

PERSISTENT COVID-19: INVESTIGATING THE IMPACT ON COURIER COMPANIES IN NIGERIA

BY

OLUWAFISAYOWA, OMOTOYOSI OLUJUYITAN

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfilment for The Msc in International Business

Supervisor: Silvija Delekovcan

SUBMITTED TO THE NATIONAL COLLEGE OF IRELAND, 17th AUGUST 2022.

Abstract

The ramifications of the COVID-19 pandemic are global, the nature of the impact is a function of several factors in specific local country contexts. For a developing country like Nigeria, the effects of the pandemic can be exacerbated by already existing challenges which are onerous. Therefore, this study is warranted to understand specifically the impact of the pandemic on the operations of courier companies in Nigeria. Although the pandemic is still ongoing, the period under review is 2020 to 2021, during which the pandemic had the greatest impact globally. The focus on the courier service industry is justified by the role that courier companies play in disaster situations when human mobility is greatly limited. Using a qualitative approach with two sets of questionnaires designed to cover both the demand and supply side of courier service, this study elicited responses from managers of courier companies in Nigeria and their clients, primarily e-shops and individual e-customers. The total number of participants was 206. Both descriptive and inferential analysis were implemented with various results that indicated that the pandemic has had a significant impact on service quality of courier companies in Nigeria. Moreover, results also show that the most significant challenge that courier companies in Nigeria faced during the worst period of the pandemic were in connection to the various restrictions of government. Challenges were generally less associated with costs. This study also found that both courier companies and clients perceived that the pandemic to has created more challenges than opportunities. Recommendations are made, both in terms of policy implication and practical industry initiatives.

Keywords: COVID-19, Courier, Companies, Nigeria

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland Research Students Declaration Form (Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: Oluwafisayowa Omotoyosi Olujuyitan Student Number: x20196008 Degree for which thesis is submitted: Master's in International Business Title of Thesis: Persistent Covid-19: Investigating the Impact on Courier Companies in Nigeria. Date: 17th August 2022

Material submitted for award

A. I declare that this work submitted has been composed by myself. \square

- B. I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.
- C. I agree to my thesis being deposited in the NCI Library online open access repository NORMA.
- D. *Either* *I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award.
 Or *I declare that the following material contained in the thesis formed part of a submission for the award of

(State the award and the awarding body and list the material below) \square

 $\mathbf{\nabla}$

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Firstly, I acknowledge God Almighty for his protection during this program and dissertation.

Without the guidance of my supervisor, Silvija Delekovcan I would not have been able to complete this research work. I am grateful for her intelligent remarks, recommendation, and words of support.

I'm also grateful to the Business school and all my lectures at the National College of Ireland for their thoughtful guidance, especially during these trying times.

Finally, I want to thank my family and friends, especially my parents (Venerable and Mrs Olujuyitan), for their unwavering support during my education.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstrac	t	2
DECLA	RATION	3
ACKN	DWLEDGEMENT	4
TABLE	OF CONTENTS	5
LIST O	F TABLES	7
LIST O	F FIGURES	9
INTRO	DUCTION	`10
1.1	Background	10
1.2	Research Justification	13
1.3	Research Problem	13
1.4	Research Questions and Hypotheses	14
1.5	Structure of the Research	15
LITER	ATURE REVIEW	16
2.1	Preamble	16
2.2	The Supply Chain, Logistics and Courier Services Industry	16
2.3	The Courier Services Industry	17
2.4	Courier Services in Nigeria	20
2.5	Theoretical Review	22
2.6	Empirical Review of Related Studies	23
2.7	Conclusion	24
METH	DDOLOGY	26
3.1	Introduction	26
3.2	Research Design	26
3.3	Data Collection Instrument	27
3.4	Research Population and Sample	
3.5	Sampling Technique	
3.6	Data Analysis	
3.7	Validity of Research Instrument and Pilot Study	29
3.8	Ethical Considerations	35
RESUL	TS AND DISCUSSION	
4.1	Introduction	

4.2	Descriptive Statistics	36
4.3	Inferential Statistics	61
4.4	Discussion of Findings	68
CONCI	LUSION	71
5.1	Summary of Major Findings	71
5.2	Conclusion	71
5.3	Recommendation, Limitation and Future Studies	72
REFER	ENCES LIST	74
APPEN	DIX I	88
APPEN	DIX II	91

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Number of Employees
Table 2: Extent production and operations have been affected by this pandemic37
Table 3: The pandemic disrupted the supply chain (lockdown, market closures, transport)
Table 4: The COVID-19 disrupted logistics due to restrictions on movements
Table 5: Courier and e-commerce were not prioritized by the government40
Table 6: The pandemic increased the cost of office operations 41
Table 7: Higher transport and delivery costs 42
Table 8: Challenges of Covid-19 were more than Opportunities
Table 9: Opportunities of Covid-19 were more than Challenges
Table 10: Courier Customer
Table 11: Patronage of Courier Services in 2020-2021
Table 12: Timeliness of Delivery
Table 13: Compliance and Completeness of the Order
Table 14: Lack of Damage to the Shipment
Table 15: Reliability
Table 16: Cultured and courteous behaviour of courier company employees51
Table 17: Easy Contact with the Courier Company 52
Table 18: Efficient communication between courier company employees and clients
Table 19: Assurance
Table 20: Responsiveness of Courier Company to Reported Problems
Table 21: Efficient and Fast Order Processing
Table 22: Flexibility in the Choice or Change of Date and Place of Service 57
Table 23: Responsiveness 58
Table 24: Challenges were more than Opportunities
Table 25: Opportunities of Covid-19 were more than Challenges
Table 26: Chi-Square Tests Showing Impact of COVID-19 on courier service quality
Table 27: Chi-Square Tests Showing the relationship between the challenges posed by COVID-19 and the perception of courier companies in Nigeria towards the COVID-19 pandemic
Table 28: KMO and Bartlett's Test 63

Table 29: Communalities	64
Table 30: Total Variance Explained	64
Table 31: Principal Component Matrix	65
Table 32: KMO and Bartlett's Test	66
Table 33: Communalities	66
Table 34: Total Variance Explained	67
Table 35: Principal Component Matrix	67

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: The intricate web of players who make sure packages reach their destination
Figure 1: Employee Count
Figure 2: The pandemic's influence on production and operations
Figure 3: The outbreak's negative effects on supply chains
Figure 4: COVID-19's Effect on Logistics
Figure 5: How the government did not place a high premium on shipping and online purchasing
Figure 6: How the epidemic increased the cost of maintaining offices
Figure 7: Increasing Delivery and Transportation Costs
Figure 8: Demonstrates that Covid-19's drawbacks exceeded its advantages
Figure 9: Covid-19's benefits outweighed its drawbacks45
Figure 10: Covid-19's benefits outweighed its drawbacks
Figure 11: Courier Service Patronage in 2020-202147
Figure 12: Timeliness of Delivery
Figure 13: The order's conclusion & completion49
Figure 14: The shipment is undamaged
Figure 15: Reliability
Figure 16: Courier crew professionalism and civility
Figure 17: Simple Methods for Reaching the Courier Company
Figure 18: Effective client-employee communication in a delivery business
Figure 19: Assurance
Figure 20: The Courier Company's response to complaints
Figure 21: Delivering orders quickly and efficiently
Figure 22: Service Date and Location Flexibility Option or Change
Figure 23: Responsiveness
Figure 24: Covid-19's difficulties exceeded its possibilities
Figure 25: Covid-19's benefits outweighed its drawbacks

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

The effects of the economic crisis, political waves of nationalism, and Brexit, including, most crucially, the US trade war, are all issues that globalisation is now addressing. Another significant setback for globalisation has been handed by the COVID-19 epidemic. The series of incidents seems to have supported the ideas of anti-globalists who contends, among other things, claim that globalisation is to blame for COVID-19 becoming a global issue (Urata and Doan, 2022). One key reason for the spread of the virus has been identified as the ease with which people may travel to other parts of the world (Folarin and Ayodele, 2021). The epidemic appears to have helped justify selective economic deglobalization as a requirement for sovereign policy-making due to the problems that resulted in global supply networks (Novy, 2020). Is deglobalization the solution again for the post-COVID-19 pandemic world, though? As far as global trade is concerned, global cooperation is essential when it comes to commerce since it is the driving force behind economic change and growth. Deglobalization is not the solution based only on the trade's potential to generate income (Scott and Wilkinson, 2020). Reforms are unquestionably required to address some of the paradoxes brought on by globalisation, though. These changes will start by looking at how the COVID-19 epidemic has affected important market areas concerning globalised commerce. Considering that it is a significant facilitator of commerce, the market for courier services is one of these areas that should not be disregarded. The introduction of several aeroplanes because of infrastructural improvements, tariff reductions, and the relaxation of constraints on international commercial markets are just a few examples of how the onset of globalisation has facilitated the rise in courier companies (Somasundaram, Balasubramani and Krishnamoorthy, 2013). Thus, the courier industry serves as an example of the positive benefits of globalisation.

This business, which includes quick door-to-door delivery & pick-up, transportation of letters including mail-related goods, and parcel (package) delivery, is extremely competitive (Rauyruen and Miller, 2007). These services are usually combined with additional value-added services to enhance the delivery experience for users. They are

typically provided on a business-to-business (B2B), business-to-customer (B2C), and occasionally customer-to-customer (C2C) basis. The intricate web of actors and procedures that are launched when a client hits an online buy button for cross-border package commerce is depicted in Figure 1.1 below. Contrary to courier and package services, express deliveries are typically time-bound, with a variety of high shipments coming within just a few days or at a set time and date. Given the nature of the actions done to improve the problem, the structure of these services leaves them vulnerable to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, because opportunities and problems frequently coexist, the effects of COVID-19 on firms might be either favourable or negative, or perhaps both. It may be feasible for businesses to take advantage of the opportunities presented by the pandemic, depending on how they view the disease and how they position themselves. For instance, the pandemic in Malaysia usually hindered traditional courier services, but it also opened up new digital prospects due to intercompany reliance on e-business firms (Izzah, Dilaila and Yao, 2021). Additionally, this has increased interest in combining technology like the usage of robots for courier services (Yahya, 2021). The use of drones, for example, has made contactless delivery services possible.





There appears to be no end in sight to the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak. Many strategies have been implemented to bring the pandemic to a halt. For instance, several nations, including Nigeria, entered a state of lockdown, which included restricting travel both

domestically and internationally. However, the pandemic's effects on companies were not limited to the lockdown. The pandemic was an existential crisis, due to the numerous responses to the epidemic, global economic activity had to temporarily halt (Kumari and Toshniwal, 2020). The lockdown, which was formerly the most common tactic, spread around the world. Numerous industries that courier services rely on, like manufacturing, were shut down. On the flip side, others faced sky-high increases in demand. International travel limits, local air travel limitations, a ban on social and cultural events, and general mobility restrictions were all part of Nigeria's response to COVID-19 (Fuwape, Okpalaonwuka and Ogunjo, 2020). In Nigeria, the impacts of the Coronavirus have been nothing short of disastrous since the index case was reported on February 27, 2020. (Ajide, Ibrahim, and Julius, 2020). Nigeria announced a state-wide lockdown on March 30, 2020, in line with the international procedure (Ajide, Ibrahim and Alimi, 2020). On April 27, 2020, this was prolonged for another two weeks. Consequently, the country's unsustainable economic implications spurred the government to propose a planned and gradual lifting of the lockdown, which took effect on May 5, 2020 (Ajide, Ibrahim, and Julius, 2020). There will undoubtedly be unforeseen implications for the courier company sector as a result of this abrupt stop to economic activity.

The NIPOST Act of 2004 created a Nigerian Postal Service (NIPOST), which has the authority to licence, control, and manage the country's courier industry (Egbejule, 2022). Since then, the courier services business has expanded tremendously, and as of November 2014, 293 courier firms were operating in Nigeria (Ugwu, 2015 in Tiamiyu and Eigbe, 2018). The top businesses in the Nigerian courier sector include international giants like DHL, FEDEX/RSE, UPS, and IAS/TNT Express as well as recent local startups like IFEX, ABEX, Tranex, Tradeways, or Courier Masters (Orolugbagbe, 2010 in Tiamiyu and Eigbe, 2018). FedEx Corporation, Deutsche Post DHL Group, and United Parcel Service Inc. are the market leaders in the \$347 billion global courier & delivery services market (IBISWorld, 2021). The above leads to the conclusion that the courier and delivery services business is significant by all standards and, as a result, might result in massive advantages if enhanced.

1.2 Research Justification

The globalised commerce environment depends on the courier services sector. This Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak has significantly hampered business activities in almost every nation around the globe. Although diseases and pandemics have always influenced global supply chains, the current COVID-19 pandemic is unprecedented and widespread (Boccaletti et al., 2020). The type of response, which included worldwide lockdowns and work limitations, is unrelated to this. Similar to most other nations, Nigeria's federal government-imposed limitations on travel among states and cities, and state governments added further rules. These precautions, along with the potential for a coronavirus pandemic, caused unexpected issues for businesses. For instance, the COVID19 epidemic posed a serious threat to courier services' capacity to deliver prompt and efficient services (Owuso and Jaja, 2022). There is no question that corporate operations won't revert to pre-COVID-19 conditions, even though the epidemic is now weakening amid the easing of COVID-19 restrictions (Ingrassia et al., 2020). Developing any model for company operations after the COVID-19 outbreak and any other upcoming globalization-related paradoxes requires an awareness of the influence of the pandemic on the industry's operations. Efforts need to be repeated at the national or regional level, even though some have been made at the global level. This explains why Nigeria is the subject of this investigation.

1.3 Research Problem

By 2020, the COVID-19 virus had such a significant impact on the world that it was difficult to see things returning to the way they were before the epidemic shortly. The economic effects of the epidemic have been catastrophic. Numerous countries used lockdowns and stay-at-home measures to address the issue, which practically stopped economic growth over many periods (Kumari and Toshniwal, 2020). The overall state of the economy was the worst it had been during the Great Depression of the 1920s through the 1930s (Urata and Doan, 2022). Due to COVID-19 limitations, the courier and delivery service industries in several nations faced serious interruptions to frequent post and courier services, resulting in delays or non-operation in specific regions. Courier deliveries that normally take two- or three-days during lockdowns are taking two weeks or longer, according to several universities (Shaughnessy, 2020). Many nations are completely removing limitations and resuming normal life as a result of

changing worldwide attitudes on the chronic nature of COVID-19 and the succeeding coronavirus variations' lack of severity in terms of fatalities and hospitalizations. As a result, 2020 and 2021 will probably be remembered as one of the deadliest years of COVID-19. It would thus seem to be extremely relevant to look at those years and draw lessons that can aid in lessening the adverse effects of future conflict that may occur as a result of continuous globalisation. The fact that the pandemic stopped all worldwide manufacturing has major implications for the courier company business, due to Vidya et Prabheesh (2020).

Gulc (2021) emphasised the necessity for more study that considers both the exterior (individuals or company consumers) and internal (organisations) viewpoints, saying that there is a dearth of literature on the subject. Direct selling and fulfilment centres are two of the several business models for shipping and distribution channels associated with cross-border commerce for digitally purchased commodities (OECD, 2020). Majority of the time, direct selling is employed for products with greater value or sporadic demand and comparatively smaller sales. Sending goods directly from a firm to a customer is known as direct selling. Products with more consistent and predictable sales quantities are employed in fulfilment hubs, which are preferred by major online retailers. When a customer puts their online order, the order is completed by shipping from the closest warehouse since fulfilment centres are placed closer to customers. The COVID-19 limits that have been adopted in many countries have made the entire procedure processes for the two concepts much more challenging.

1.4 Research Questions and Hypotheses

The COVID-19 pandemic has been described as persistent in literature (Fournier et al., 2020; Volgger, Taplin and Aebli, 2021; Huang et al., 2021; Alu et al., 2022) How the COVID-19 pandemic might affect courier services in Nigeria in 2020 and 2021 is the main study issue. The following is a list of other research issues. The questionnaire will be made available based on comparable high-level studies from Gulc (2021), UNCTAD (2020), & Zou, Huo, and Li (2020). This study's goal is to determine how Nigeria's courier services may be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic in the years 2020 and 2021. The pandemic which started in 2019, has been persistent, with those years being the worst-hit period. Based on COVID-19 experiences in 2020 and 2021, the ensuing research queries.

- 1. What effect does COVID-19 have on the calibre of the courier service?
- 2. What were the COVID-19 pandemic's biggest obstacles for courier delivery?
- 3. What do courier firms in Nigeria think about the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic?

The following are some of the study's hypotheses:

H10: COVID-19 has no appreciable effect on Nigeria's courier service quality.

H2₀: The difficulties caused by COVID-19 and how Nigerian courier firms see the COVID-19 epidemic are not significantly related.

1.5 Structure of the Research

This dissertation follows a five-chapter structure. The first chapter gives an introduction. The second chapter examines the current situation of the literature review. The methodology is spelt out in the third chapter. The fourth chapter contains the results and discussion of the findings, while the fifth has the conclusion.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Preamble

The study's literature review is presented in this chapter. The goal of this study is to determine how the COVID-19 outbreak would impact courier services in Nigeria in 2020 and 2021. The themes that form discussions in the following sections and subsections are generated from the topic of the study, research questions, objectives and hypotheses. The chapter is structured as follows: an introduction, a conceptual evaluation of the literature based on the key topics and terminology developed, a conceptual review of key concepts in literature, an evidence-based assessment of related research, and a summary with highlighted areas of misinformation.

2.2 The Supply Chain, Logistics and Courier Services Industry

To meet the demands of the end consumer, the supply chain is made up of many types of (judgement and implementation) procedures and (material, information, and financial) flows that occur both inside and across supply chain stages (FAO and INRAE, 2020; Alakaş and Eren, 2021). In addition to the manufacturer and its suppliers, the supply chain may also include transporters, warehouses, merchants, and customers (depending on the logistical flows) (Flynn, 2021). Most definitions of logistics place more focus on the efficient movement of goods, services, and relevant metadata from the point of origin to the point of consumption than only from the point - of - sale to the site of consumption to fulfil customer expectations (Grant, 2012). These definitions consequently give the impression that customers and consumers are somehow involved in the logistics process, such as when importing goods produced elsewhere in the current global supply chain network or planning online deliveries to the home (or another location, such as a pick-up location, another retail chain, or a package storage room) (Aspara, Grant and Holmlund, 2020). Physical distribution is unquestionably significant in supply networks. One of the linkages in the supply chain is logistics, which is distinct (Schlegelmilch, 2022). The portion of the supply chain known as logistics deals with the organisation, management, and storage of goods and services from their point of origin to their final destination (Correia, Teixeira and

Marques, 2021). Researchers attribute SCM's beginnings to the logistics function's history, and some belief SCM and logistics to be interchangeable words (Roy, 2021; Lanzini, Ubacht and Greeff, 2021). Consequently, the terms supply chain and logistics are sometimes used together.

Since the turn of the millennium, the internet has brought in a retailing revolution by offering consumers a new, easy means of buying (Akbari and Do 2021). Since the turn of the millennium, the internet has brought in a retailing revolution by offering consumers a new, easy means of buying (Akbari and Do 2021). E-commerce, or online retail, is today a booming industry that offers a diverse array of goods as well as services (Radhakrishnan, 2021). The merchant now handles many of the physical aspects of the fulfilment process that were formerly handled by the consumer in-store and elsewhere. A retailer's distribution system is made more difficult by the "last mile" procedure, which is the last application of conventional logistics management procedures from "place of origin to point of consumption" (Movaheddin, 2021). The online shopping procedure includes packing, selecting, sending, transporting, retrieving, and returning actual items (Difrancesco, van Schilt and Winkenbach, 2021). Moreover, a commodity bought online or "virtually" must be delivered to the customer at the proper location, at the proper moment, in the right quantities, and even in satisfactory condition for the customer to use it. Courier companies are heavily dependent on this industry to provide Globally, the epidemic prompted the use of ethese services (Edward, 2021). commerce, which prohibited movement and constraints. Thus, this links the supply chain, where goods must go to final consumers via logistics management and where the viability of courier services is dependent (Thuy Tran, 2021).

2.3 The Courier Services Industry

Most communications were delivered by hand before automated courier services were available utilising several methods, like runners, homing pigeons, horseback riders, & foot messengers who travelled long distances (Norris, 2021). Anabasii, a sort of horse-and chariot-mounted messenger, were used by the ancient Greeks and Romans to carry messages and directions across long distances (Taylor, 2022). For shipments and consignments needing transit across longer distance networks, bike or motorbike couriers are frequently utilised in today's cities; they use sea lanes, highways, trains, and airlines. Organizations that use Just-In-Time (JIT) inventory management

commonly employ onboard couriers. These are persons who, mostly on commercial airlines, can fly anywhere in the world at any time (Kumar, 2018). For instance, recent commercial expansion has led to a sharp rise in direct-to-consumer deliveries, highlighting the importance of "last-mile" operations (Mariki, 2021). Concerning home delivery, customers have several delivery choices, including lockers or pick-up locations. With these click-and-collect alternatives, customers may make online purchases and pick up their purchases from a retailer in person (Mancini and Gansterer, 2021). Providing such services efficiently is getting increasingly difficult due to escalating complexity, dynamism, and uncertainty (Cho, Ozment and Sink, 2008).

Because they act as a conduit between companies and customers, courier services are crucial in the modern world. In most nations, receiving goods and having them delivered the exact day or in a few days has now become the holy grail (Dones and Young, 2020). A courier service moves mail, packages, and messages from one place to another. Couriers differ from typical postal services in terms of speed, security, signature, specialisation, tracking, and personalisation of express services, as well as majority of standard mail services' speedy delivery times. All levels of courier services are offered, spanning local to regions to national to international. The biggest courier firms that operate internationally and often employ a hub and spoke model are DHL, EMS International, TNT, UPS, FedEx, & Aramex (Kumar, 2018). The growth of international e-commerce behemoths including Amazon and Alibaba has drawn considerable focus in recent years to couriers, express, & parcel (CEP) delivery companies (Sullivan, 2021). A highly established and specialised market exists in China, where the sector's fastest-growing segment is (Liu, Yang and Shi, 2021, Yueh, 2020). Thanks to the market, people can purchase almost anything with the touch of a finger (Sullivan and Kern, 2021). On the other hand, due to several operational problems including high prices, poor efficiency, and a lack of an integrated intermodal transportation network, local logistics networks continue to be unable to keep up with demand (Giuffrida, Jiang and Mangiaracina, 2021).

Depending on its position, delivery speed, commodities offered, or objects transported, a courier service may be defined (Tang et al., 2022). There are three well-known categories of courier delivery companies: local services, time-sensitive services, and international services (Dunlap, 2020). Despite being positioned in between supply

chain management and postal services, courier services have their unique qualities, including secured timely delivery to that same hour, a money-back guarantee, proof of shipment purchase, door-to-door delivery to the addressee, the ability to track shipping in a tracking-tracing framework, as well as the role of a specific messenger - shipping company (Hagen and Scheel-Kopeinig, 2021). The uniqueness of courier companies has drawn a lot of manufacturing and trade companies as well as individual customers (Gulc, 2017). Fast-moving consumer products and e-commerce websites have been blamed for the establishment of courier service firms and an increase in their numbers (Himanshu, Chandel and Bhagwat, 2022). On-time delivery is one of the most crucial elements of e-commerce businesses. Every e-commerce company is searching for a dependable courier company that can send its products at a fair price (Kumar, 2018). Supply chain management is responsible for monitoring all raw material movement and transportation, product and service handling and packaging, warehousing and storage, and allocation through numerous channels to reach the consumer's door securely and on time (Czinkota et al., 2021). The courier service, a distinctive TSL service, has recently become an essential link in the logistical supply chains of many trades, manufacturing, and service organisations (Jarocka and Wang, 2018). Technology and service model advancements in the courier industry are changing customer behaviour and upending supply and travel networks (Khan and Shaheen, 2022).

The global courier, express, & parcel industry (CEP) has lately experienced tremendous growth, and it is anticipated that this trend will continue in the years to come. According to estimates, the worldwide courier market size was estimated at 306 billion u.s. dollars in 2018 and would expand by 8 to 10 per cent annually to 400 billion u.s. dollars by 2024. (Statista, 2019). The rise of internet shopping has been a significant factor in the expansion of courier services in recent years (Zhen et al., 2021). Online customers are attracted to features like several shipping options, real-time delivery details, the opportunity to rearrange deliveries, and same-day delivery (Gulc, 2017). Regular online consumers reported excellent experiences using courier companies: 78 per cent believed receiving their most recent order was straightforward, while % stated their best recent return experience was positive (DPD Group, 2019). Technology improvements have led to a change in the courier service model from conventional door-to-door deliveries to a self-service one characterized by non-interfaces and cutting-edge logistical technologies (PWC, 2019). In courier operations, data is produced in

practically every fundamental customer- and item-related service activity, adding up to an infinite number of transactions overall (Jintana, Sopadang and Ramingwong, 2021). Customers' names, addresses, & phone numbers were logged in real-time, together with information about the sale transaction, such as the time, date, weight, quantity of items, and service fees (Chonsowat and Sopadang, 2019). Courier companies use data analytics to make decisions, identify target clients, evaluate client demand, and build customised goods for each client. However, it's crucial to find out if this information is put to good use by learning from the opinions of customers and building new business models, this information may be able to help businesses grow (Jintana, Sopadang and Ramingwong, 2021). This enhancement might help a new service position flourish and acquire a competitive edge (Jintana, Sopadang and Ramingwong, 2021). Demand for courier services has substantially grown because of the potential COVID-19 pandemic. In response to demand, courier services sent supplies of food, groceries, paperwork, technology, clothes, and other necessities (Fenech, Falzon and Bugeja, 2020). This is perhaps an aspect of the pandemic that offers both opportunities and challenges.

2.4 Courier Services in Nigeria

Providing courier services is essential to the economic sector (Ayodele, 2022). Courier services are expanding quickly all over the world as a result of the e-commerce boom and globalisation. Courier services had to transform into organisations that could make quick deliveries in response to the growth of consumerism, e-commerce, as well as the introduction of online retailers (Villa and Monzón, 2021). They had to move from using trucks and buses because they couldn't navigate around traffic jams and then get to their objectives swiftly to using tricycles and motorbikes. The introduction of these lessexpensive trucks opened the market to smaller companies in Nigeria, particularly as the regulatory authority, this same Nigerian Postal Service ("NIPOST"), remained largely in charge of overseeing businesses with high-profit margins including DHL, ABC, & GIG (Ogbonna, Ogbonna and Makinde, 2022). These courier services offer ongoing freight tracking using several techniques (Reardon et al., 2021). The courier-tracking systems often combine cellular-based technologies for communication including data messaging with satellite-based systems for data messaging, and these systems are normally only usable in populated areas or along major thoroughfares using mobile telephone service (Reardon et al., 2021).

Additionally, the absence of regulatory restrictions allowed for greater access, which led to the emergence of several new companies that specialise in providing services to people including Micro Small & Medium Enterprises (MSMEs). The large companies in the transportation business were forced to start using tricycles and motorcycles to deliver to people and MSMEs as a result of the implementation of these emerging MSME-focused couriers & logistic services creating a bubble (Aelex, 2021). Following this, the ban on the use of motorcycles for business purposes in Lagos, which was announced in January 2020, helped the industry because majority of companies that provided commercial rides, such as Gokada and Max.ng were pressured to switch to delivery services to survive. The restriction was seized upon by industry steamrollers, most notably GIG, who bought platforms for logistics and courier services like 1st Ride (Paul, 2020). The rules that apply to operators in other sectors of the Nigerian economy frequently also apply to players in the logistics sector. Nigerian logistics companies are governed under the Nigerian Postal Services Act, 2004, which has been in force since 2001. However, in July 2020, Nigeria's minister of communication and digital economy, "Dr Isa Ali Ibrahim Pantami," issued a new order for the regulation of courier and logistics companies. 2021) (Balogun, Mbah, and Omoniyi). The goal of the new rule 2020 for couriers and logistics firms, according to the minister of communication & digital economy, is to increase activities in this industry in Nigeria (Balogun, Mbah and Omoniyi, 2021). The previous law favored big players in the logistics and courier industries, but the new rule offers opportunities for a wider range of businesses. The directive's objective was to make it possible for operators of all types to be identified with a particular address and position that can be tracked both before and after utilising their services (Balogun, Mbah and Omoniyi, 2021). This measure is expected to lessen the likelihood that shady operators would exploit the industry's lack of regulation to do illegal business (Elebeke, 2020). In the delivery industry, courier services maintain a distinctive position. The key to keeping the cost of sending a package low is to pick up, move, and deliver packages as quickly and effectively as you can (Zenikov, 2021). You may be confident that your shipment will arrive on schedule and at a reasonable price, thanks to the way the parcel delivery network is set up (Yldz, 2021).

2.5 Theoretical Review

This study explores the nature of the COVID-19 pandemic's impact on businesses using the situational attribution theory as its foundation and guiding principle. The idea outlines the necessity for solutions that address both the nature and distinctive qualities of organisations in the sector, in addition to the spread and effects of the crisis on the firm. Although a crisis may have a significant influence on an organisation, Coombs (2007) contends that if steps taken to lessen the effects are inadequate, the issue may escalate. According to Simon (1976), the goal of behavioural theory is to make it clear how companies may be understood through their decision-making procedures, as these processes are essential to comprehending organisational phenomena. This shows that management decisions influence a company's capacity for change in the context of this research. In their behavioural theory of business, Cyert and March (1963) were among the first to question whether organisations had a broad knowledge base and prioritise profit maximisation. The behaviour of organisations has been predicted using their idea. Firms, they believe, may expand more successfully by satisficing rather than maximising goals. The management decision-making process should take into account uncertainty, such as that brought on by unexpected occurrences in the corporate environment or the unforeseen impacts of an organization's operations. Most companies in the past chose to rely on verified facts rather than speculative estimations to protect themselves against uncertainty, and some organisations still do so today (Endres, 2018). Instead of long-term actions like future-focused environmental forecasting with an integrated understanding of uncertainty, this manifests as short-term-focused behaviours (Mahoney and Rueschemeyer, 2003). An organisation adopts standard operating procedures, as a result, adopts reactive rather than proactive policy, and becomes more and more inactive.

According to the contingency theory (Burns and Stalker, 1961), organisations need to "fit" within the constraints imposed by their surroundings. Unlike previous theories that held that there were no universally applicable organisational principles, it also contends that there is a best-practice organisational structure or design for any context. For instance, a more static and adaptable organisational structure may be preferred in a more stable or dynamic setting. According to the contingency hypothesis, the organisational structure is impacted by the company's size, business strategy, and manufacturing process. The capacity of managers to modify the organisational design or structure considering the scenario, i.e., the external environment and the company's current state, is referred to as organisational adaptation in the firm's contingency theory (Lewin & Volberda, 1999). In contrast to proactive management or environmental impact, the firm's contingency theory, which is a component of an organisational dynamic capabilities' framework, emphasises the reactive response to circumstances.

2.6 Empirical Review of Related Studies

Ivanov (2020) claims that pandemics are a subset of the supply chain (SC) risks characterised by high uncertainty, disruption spread (often known as the "ripple effect"), and sustained disruption. The study's simulation brought to light several cutting-edge research issues about COVID-19's effects on global supply networks. The paper uses the coronavirus, as an illustration, to show how simulation-based methods may be utilised to examine and foresee the effects of pandemic breakouts on SC performance. Business analysts Acee-Eke and Ikegwuru, scholars Ikegwuru and Harcourt, and Ivanov (2020) have all previously noticed the effects of COVID-19 on logistical operations. Borca et al (2021) asserted that a study of numerous studies found that the virus's influence has resulted in some remarkable positive advancements in the sector. Significant reductions in global emissions and a growth in support for sustainability are among the primary impacts of the COVID-19 crisis, including decreased freight and vehicle traffic. The growth of third-party logistics services and the introduction of e-commerce companies with effective delivery choices were two of the most noticeable shifts in the logistics and transportation sector during the COVID-19 pandemic. More companies are outsourcing supply chain tasks like order processing, shipping, and storage despite the pandemic, which helps the market and boosts earnings (Wang et al., 2021; Bratt, Sroufe, and Broman, 2021; Lin et al., 2021).

Desai (2021) claims that in the event of a COVID-19 pandemic, there are opportunities for short-, mid-, & long-term development and sustainability, notably for businesses in the logistics and courier sector. According to Luman, Soroka, and Konings (2021), the COVID-19 pandemic has fostered innovation and increased e-commerce and e-logistics services. More e-commerce and e-logistics enterprises have formed to accommodate the increased demand for these services. Shipping companies such as DHL and UPS are examples, as are real estate logistics businesses such as Walmart's online storage services. As more logistics companies use multi-hub networks to carry

packages overseas, constraints mount and scheduling operations becomes considerably more challenging (Kathuria et al, 2020). This study, which was guided by a structured literature review, provided an examination of the impact of pandemic breakouts on the existence of courier services. The COVID-19 outbreak has a substantial impact on all supply chain participants, and there is concern that cost-cutting & value differentiation is potential answers to the current problems. These factors have an impact on logistics operations.

2.7 Conclusion

The COVID-19 pandemic outbreak serves as an example of the devastation that pandemics and epidemics may do to courier services. Actions taken to stop the spread of COVID-19, such as attempting to restrict travel, tightening border controls, or establishing new border regulations (or protections in place for those in terms of carrying and inspecting goods), have had varying degrees of impact on the different modes of parcel transportation, despite being necessary. On the one hand, the Nigerian government is capable of debt, subpar institutions, destitution, abject poverty, widespread corruption, and greed, all of which have over time grown to be accepted as facts and standards in society. This is true of most African administrations (Aregbeshola and Khan, 2018; Adeniran and Sidiq, 2018). People were extremely unhappy and frustrated with their government's choice to implement a lockdown in reaction to the COVID-19 epidemic, especially because no meaningful steps were taken to lessen citizen loss and living circumstances (The African Report, 2020). The worst impacted were businesses and corporations since they had to either cease all activities as a result of government directives or operate at a level that was inefficient, inconvenient, and inconsistent with prior corporate norms and standards (Assaad and El-adaway, 2021; Butt, 2021). Furthermore, the COVID-19 situation is not the only one that Nigeria's economy is facing. Other challenges include financial hardships, rapid technical improvements, the predominance of foreign courier services, and the requirement for the formation of new courier businesses in Nigeria. The results of this study should be used by management in courier firms to estimate the short- and long-term consequences of pandemic breakouts on logistics organisations and establish contingency plans. Basic ideas, theories, and empirical research on the issue of continuing COVID effects on courier services have been addressed in this chapter. By addressing and emphasising

the effects of chronic COVID-19 on courier services, this study seeks to close this gap. To the best of my knowledge, Nigeria has not been the subject of such research.

CHAPTER THREE METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

This chapter's goal is to describe the approach taken to respond to the study's research questions and accomplish its goals. Investigating the effects of a protracted COVID-19 epidemic on courier services in Nigeria is the main goal of this study. A research methodology's main purpose is to describe the steps used to accomplish the study's objectives and provide answers to its specific research questions. In general, this study employed online surveys to gather its data. As a result, this study adopted a qualitative methodology. The use of a questionnaire survey was made to preserve the participants' right to anonymity while being particularly helpful for obtaining data from a large number of people (Escolas et al., 2020). It is also reasonably priced 2018 (Bluman). The steps involved in conducting a questionnaire survey are covered in the sections that follow. These include identifying the research objectives, identifying the population and sample, selecting how to collect feedback, designing the questionnaire, testing it with a pilot survey, conducting the main survey, and analysing the results.

3.2 Research Design

This study uses a descriptive research survey to address the research topics covered in the preceding section. Descriptive research objective is to describe phenomena and their features (Pangaribuan, Ali and Mauluddin, 2020). The study's methodology places more emphasis on what happened than on how or why it occurred (Nassaji, 2015). To gather data, observational and survey approaches are frequently used (Gall, Gall and Borg, 2007; Silver et al., 2013). One variable can be expressed and compared to a standard to resolve univariate, normative, or correlative concerns, or descriptive research can be used to explain the relationship between two or more components (Bickman, Rog and Best, 2009). A descriptive survey is another way to collect data by conducting interviews with people or distributing questionnaires to a sample of the population that is representative of the entire community. To provide answers to the questions posed, this research employs a Likert-type scale. The freedom to select any response based on any line of reasoning is ensured as a result. The Likert-type scale allows researchers to access study participants' ideas, attitudes, and behaviours concerning the study's topic and objectives. Additionally, Likert scale questions make

it simple to operationalize beliefs and views (Casaca and Lyridis, 2020). In this study, the statements used in the Likert scales offer a continuum of potential responses that include a variety of gradations for agreeing with the facts as expressed or gauging effect.

3.3 Data Collection Instrument

The practice of acquiring information from a sample of the research population is known as data collection (Morzy, Valduriez and Bellatreche, 2015). The primary data collection instrument in this study was a self-administered questionnaire. The instrument, which is described as a self-report data collection tool that study participants complete, was a questionnaire (Christensen, Johnson and Turner, 2015). Questionnaires are used to assess participants' opinions and impressions, as well as selfreported demographic data. You can pick between closed-ended (where respondents must select from the researcher's reply) and open-ended questions while conducting surveys (where respondents provide answers in their own words). Many participants in the courier services industry responded to online surveys that were sent for this study using Google Forms. Due to the literature's identification of two demographic categories, this study makes use of two distinct sets of questionnaires. Gulc (2021) identified a research gap related to the lack of a thorough approach regarding factors that influence the quality of courier services from the perspectives of three stakeholder groups: e-commerce sites, delivery services, and e-clients, which prompted the development of the two questionnaires.

A single questionnaire is distributed to both e-shops and e-customers to examine the impact of COVID-19 more completely on the delivery business from a service standpoint. Because they both use courier services, they are both in a better position. The other questionnaire is geared toward the courier businesses themselves, who are in a better position to assess the issues that COVID-19 will provide for the courier sector. These are consistent with the study's goals. The problems viewpoint may highlight possibilities while the service perspective may highlight places for improvement. The questionnaires that are distributed typically have parts that are intended to measure a specific aspect of the research topics. In each instance, the initial phase is dedicated to gathering background data, including participant demographics. The research questions section includes inquiries meant to accomplish the study's goals. In the study questions

section, various interval scales of the Likert type are utilised. The questions in each section are designed to evaluate a certain variable. There are at least two questions for each variable and sub-variable. Questions in the section on demographic data are multiple-choice. The information was gathered with a high degree of precision using the nominal scale. This study uses a descriptive survey because it helps to concentrate the data on the ideal characteristics that the research topic seeks to achieve.

3.4 Research Population and Sample

All the people or things being examined together are referred to as the population but selecting a sample of the population to study is referred to as sampling (Rahi, 2017). As a result, the population in a particular empirical environment is typically significantly impacted by the study question or topic attributes of interest. The two distinct sets of questions employed in this study, which were described in the section above, indicate that the participants of this research appear to be Nigerian e-clients of the courier services organisation, or e-customers and e-shops. The study's second group of participants included Nigerian courier company managers. The preceding section outlined the justification for this decision. In a particular empirical investigation, a sample is a predetermined (drawn) subset of the population that is used to investigate or evaluate the unit of analysis on the variable(s) of interest. The Nigerian courier services business is the primary focus of this study. Although it is difficult to pinpoint the precise number of e-clients for Nigeria's courier service business, 293 courier companies have been identified in the literature (Ugwu, 2015 in Tiamiyu and Eigbe, 2018). Therefore, the sample contains at least 204 e-clients of courier services and 100 questionnaire responses from diverse courier business managers. Based on Israel's description of the accuracy levels, this computation was made (2012). A minimum of 304 people were taken into consideration overall.

3.5 Sampling Technique

As mentioned in the previous section, convenience sampling was used for this investigation. According to Toro, Garca-Garca, et al. (2020), convenience sampling is a non-probabilistic sampling approach in which participants are selected depending on their availability. The simplicity of obtaining a sample serves as the primary selection criterion (Stockemer, 2019). Convenience sampling has the benefits of being less expensive and time-consuming. Any sampling unit combination that excludes all the

sample units that make up the population might also have an influence (Martinez-Falero, Martin-Fernandez and Garcia-Abril, 2016). To increase the accuracy of their studies and their trust in the degree of sample size variation over time, researchers have made use of new technology. Every study project depends on choosing the best sampling approach because there are many affecting elements. These elements comprise the population of the study, the permitted sampling error, and the objective of the investigation. The study's self-administered questions were distributed via (online) Google Forms. Respondents received online invites using social media sites including Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and WhatsApp. Emails were used to send invitations as well. The sources of the connections were openly accessible print and internet sources and platforms.

3.6 Data Analysis

The act of obtaining raw data and turning it into knowledge that may help users make decisions is known as data analysis (Karaca, Cattani and De, 2019). The purpose of data collection and analysis is to provide answers, test hypotheses, or support claims. To show how frequently and how probable a measured variable occurs, descriptive statistics will be used to summarise and present data as percentages and frequencies. Tables and charts are used as a result. The objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of a long-term COVID-19 pandemic on Nigerian courier firms using inferential statistics, particularly factor analysis. Chi-square was also used to examine connections and respond to study questions.

3.7 Reliability and Validity of Research Instrument and Pilot Study

How effectively the measure specifies the idea that is supposed to be measured determines the concept of research validity (Hair et al., 2007). Thus, face validity and concept validity were utilised in this investigation. Construct validity was employed since the constructs used to build the questionnaire were sourced and well-founded in the literature. The COVID-19 challenges were modified from those of UNCTAD (2020). The goal is to gauge pertains to what matters most to the courier sector. The Gulc measurements of courier service quality was modified (2021). The goal is to evaluate COVID-19's impact, which is why the possible responses are No Impact, Weak Impact, Medium Impact, and High Impact. Additionally, the conceptual framework of the study was connected to each component of the questionnaire. 15

respondents representing the various participant groups were consulted as part of pilot research to apply face validity and assess the suitability of the questions selected for each construct. To ensure that each portion is used to examine data for a particular aim, the questionnaire instruments used in this study were divided into sections. The volunteers were asked to test the questionnaire for applicability and offer input on its usefulness, clarity, and objectionability. Before being employed in the actual data collecting procedure, the research instrument was modified considering the findings of the pilot study. The pilot research participants' remarks were mostly insignificant, worrying about addressing the vagueness of questions. As a result, questions were changed and made simpler. There were no significant changes, though.

			Std.		Cronbach's	Internal
	N	Mean	Deviation	Variance	Alpha	Consistency
The pandemic disrupted	104	3.87	1.207	1.457	0.715	0.823
the supply chain						
(lockdown, market						
closures, transport)						
The COVID-19 disrupted	104	3.88	1.349	1.819		
logistics due to						
restrictions on						
movements						
Courier and e-commerce	104	3.53	1.461	2.135		
were not prioritized by						
the government						
The pandemic increased	104	2.48	1.292	1.670		
the cost of office						
operations						
Higher transport and	104	3.49	1.441	2.078		
delivery costs						

Table 3.1: Reliability and Descriptive Statistics for Challenges Construct

			Std.		Cronbach's Internal		
	Ν	Mean	Deviation	Variance	Alpha	Consistency	
Valid N (listwise)	104						

Table 3.1: Reliability and Descriptive Statistics for Challenges Construct

Table 3.1 presents a summary of the selected descriptive statistics for challenges construct. It could be seen that all the mean values are above 3.0, which is the average of the 5-Point Likert scale utilized for the research instrument in this study, except for item 4 (The pandemic increased the cost of office operation). Based on the high mean scores, it could be said that there is relatively high degree of agreement for all the question relating to challenges of COVID-19. Table 1 provides an overview of all main variables' means, standard deviations, and the variance explained on each Likert-scale to further describe the items for each construct.

The study employed Cronbach's Alpha for reliability test, which has a value of 0.715, indicating 71.5% reliability score. That indicates that the section under the research instrument are consistent with the objectives the study sought to achieve.

			Std.		Cronbach's	Internal
	Ν	Mean	Deviation	Variance	Alpha	Consistency
The COVID-19 pandemic	104	3.53	1.343	1.805	0.691	0.782
period of 2020-2021 was						
bad for courier companies						
in Nigeria (Challenges						
were more opportunities)						

Table 3.2: Reliability and Descriptive Statistics for Perception towards COVID-19 for Courier Companies

The COVID-19 pandemic	104	2.56	1.313	1.725	
period of 2020-2021 was					
good for courier companies	5				
in Nigeria (Opportunities					
were more than challenges)					
Valid N (listwise)	104				·

Table 3.2 presents a summary of the selected descriptive statistics and reliability for perception construct used for courier companies. It could be seen that all the mean values are above 3.0, which is the average of the 5-Point Likert scale utilized for the research instrument in this study, except for item 2 in the construct (The COVID-19 pandemic period of 2020-2021 was good for courier companies in Nigeria (Opportunities were more than challenges)). Based on the high mean scores, it could be said that there is relatively high degree of agreement for item 1 relating to perception towards COVID-19 among courier company. Table 1 provides an overview of all main variables' means, standard deviations, and the variance explained on each Likert-scale to further describe the items for each construct.

The study employed Cronbach's Alpha for reliability test, which has a value of 0.691, indicating 69.1% reliability score. That indicates that the section under the research instrument are consistent with the objectives the study sought to achieve.

			Std.		Cronbach's	Internal
	Ν	Mean	Deviation	Variance	Alpha	Consistency
Reliability	206	2.67	.696	.484	0.647	0.693
Cultured and courteous behaviour of courier company employees	206	2.08	1.151	1.325		

Table 3.3: Descriptive Statistics and Reliability for Impact of COVID-19

Easy contact with the courier company	206	2.57	1.110	1.232
Efficient communication between courier company employees and clients	206	2.07	.929	.864
Assurance	206	2.25	.678	.460
Responsiveness of courier company to reported problems	206	2.47	.991	.982
Efficient and fast order processing	206	1.77	.960	.921
Flexibility in the choice or change of date and place or service		2.57	1.296	1.681
Responsiveness	206	2.32	.729	.531
Valid N (listwise)	206			

Table 3.3 presents a summary of the selected descriptive statistics and reliability for impact of COVID-19 construct. It could be seen that all the mean values are below 3.0, which is the average of the 5-Point Likert scale utilized for the research instrument in this study. Based on the low mean scores, it could be said that there is relatively high degree of disagreement for all the question relating to impact of COVID-19. Table 1 provides an overview of all main variables' means, standard deviations, and the variance explained on each Likert-scale to further describe the items for each construct.

The study employed Cronbach's Alpha for reliability test, which has a value of 0.647, indicating 64.7% reliability score. That indicates that the section under the research instrument are consistent with the objectives the study sought to achieve.

			Std.			
			Deviatio		Cronbach	Internal
	Ν	Mean	n	Variance	's Alpha	Consistency
The COVID-19	206	3.02	1.245	1.551	0.798	0.812
pandemic period of						
2020-2021 was bad for						
courier companies in						
Nigeria (Challenges						
were more opportunities))					
The COVID-19	206	2.84	1.278	1.634		
pandemic period of						
2020-2021 was good for						
courier companies in						
Nigeria (Opportunities						
were more than						
challenges)						
Valid N (listwise)	206					

 Table 3.4: Reliability and Descriptive Statistics for Perception towards COVID-19 for eclients of Courier Services

Table 3.4 presents a summary of the selected descriptive statistics. It could be seen that all the mean values are above 3.5, which is the average of the 7-Point Likert scale utilized for the research instrument in this study. Based on the high mean scores, it could be said that there is relatively high degree of agreement for all the question relating to perceived authenticity, attractiveness, trustworthiness, and purchase intention of social media users. Table 1 provides an overview of all main variables' means, standard deviations, and the variance explained on each Likert-scale to further describe the items for each construct.

The study employed Cronbach's Alpha for reliability test, which has a value of 0.798, indicating 79.8% reliability score. That indicates that the section under the research instrument are consistent with the objectives the study sought to achieve.

3.8 Ethical Considerations

Participants were asked for their informed permission to make sure that ethics were considered, and that all participation was voluntary. Anytime without giving the researcher any warning, participants might leave the study. Respondents may easily remain anonymous because they were not required to disclose any sensitive personal information on the questionnaire. Since the information was gathered online for this study's participants, email addresses weren't required to track responses to questionnaires. The following informed consent principles were upheld throughout the survey research process: confidentiality of participant information; impartiality; participant protection; ensuring social responsibility and non-discrimination; and integrity, care, and honesty.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Introduction

The findings and related discussion are presented in this chapter. Depending on the research variables and the study's research topics, this also includes data analysis and interpretation. The descriptive statistics of the demographic data from the two questionnaires are followed by inferential statistics in this chapter. To create a visual representation of the data, the responses to the surveys are summarised in tables and figures. The general discussion section of this chapter follows after that.

4.2 Descriptive Statistics

To offer numerical summaries of the respondents' replies, tables and charts are used in this section. The next subsections include a presentation of them.

				Cumulative
	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Percent
50 or less	40	38.5	38.5	38.5
51–100	33	31.7	31.7	70.2
101–300	6	5.8	5.8	76.0
301–500	13	12.5	12.5	88.5
501-1000	12	11.5	11.5	100.0
Total	104	100.0	100.0	

Table 1: Number of Employees


Figure 1: Employee Count

The number of workers at the courier companies used as the case study for the research is shown in Table 1 and Figure 1 above. 38.5 per cent of companies employ less than 50 people, while 31.7 per cent employ between 51 and 100 people. Only 5.8 per cent say their organisation employs between 101 and 300 individuals, 12.5 per cent believe it employs between 301 and 500 persons, and 11.5 per cent believe it employs between 501 and 1000 people. It demonstrates that the majority of courier businesses employ between one and one hundred people.

			Valid	Cumulative
	Frequency	Per cent	Percent	Percent
Positive results	18	17.3	17.3	17.3
No notable effects	18	17.3	17.3	17.3
minimal effect	9	8.7	8.7	43.3
large influence	27	26.0	26.0	69.2
a very negative effect	32	30.8	30.8	100.0
Total	104	100.0	100.0	

Table 2: Extent production and operations have been affected by this pandemic



The pandemic's influence on production and operations is seen in Figure 2.

According to Table 2 and Figure 2, the majority of courier business employees (30.8 per cent) feel the pandemic has had a substantial influence on their firms' operations and output, whereas 26% of respondents agreed. A small number of respondents said they believed the pandemic had a minor impact on their companies' operations and production. 17.3 per cent of respondents believe that the epidemic has little to no effect on their business. Additionally, 17.3% of respondents think that the pandemic has a favorable effect on their companies' operations and productivity. The data show that the epidemic has a terrible impact on how the courier service operates.

Table 3: The pandemic disrupted the supply chain (lockdown, market closures,
transport)

				Cumulative
	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Percent
Strongly Object	9	8.7	8.7	8.7
Disagree	6	5.8	5.8	14.4
Neutral	11	10.6	10.6	25.0
Agree	42	40.4	40.4	65.4
strongly concur	36	34.6	34.6	100.0
Total	104	100.0	100.0	



The outbreak's negative effects on supply chains are shown in Figure 3.

The majority of responders (75%) strongly agree or concur that the pandemic impacted the supply chain at their courier business (lockdown, market closures, transportation). This is seen in Table 3 and Figure 3. 10.6% of them have a neutral opinion, 5.8% have a disagreeable opinion, and 8.7% have a highly disagreeable opinion. According to the data, the pandemic had a substantial influence on the distribution network of courier services.

			Valid	Cumulative
	Frequency	Per cent	Percent	Percent
Strongly Object	11	10.6	10.6	10.6
Disagree	10	9.6	9.6	20.2
Neutral	5	4.8	4.8	25.0
Agree	33	31.7	31.7	56.7
strongly concur	45	43.3	43.3	100.0
Total	104	100.0	100.0	

 Table 4: The COVID-19 disrupted logistics due to restrictions on movements



Figure 4: COVID-19's Effect on Logistics

Table 4 and Figure 4 show that 43.3 % of respondents strongly agree, 31.7 % agree, 4.8 % are neutral, 9.6 % disagree, and 10.6 % angrily disagree that Covid-19 damaged their businesses' logistics by imposing transportation restrictions. The average response suggests that respondents agree with this statement, which is 3.83. 75 per cent of respondents agreed with the study, which suggested that the Covid-19 epidemic affected logistics as a result of transportation restrictions.

			Valid	
	Frequency	Per cent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Strongly Object	16	15.4	15.4	15.4
Disagree	15	14.4	14.4	29.8
Neutral	5	4.8	4.8	34.6
Agree	34	32.7	32.7	67.3
strongly concur	34	32.7	32.7	100.0
Total	104	100.0	100.0	

Table 5: Courier and e-commerce were not prioritized by the government



Fig. 5 *shows how the government did not place a high premium on shipping and online purchasing.*

Figure 5 and Table 5 above demonstrate how the government gave courier services and online shopping top priority during the outbreak. According to 65.4 per cent of respondents, they strongly believe that the government did not give them a priority. A total of 29.8% of them strongly disagree with the assertion. The research revealed that throughout the pandemic, the government did not give courier and e-commerce companies top priority.

			Valid	
	Frequency	Per cent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Strongly Object	25	24.0	24.0	24.0
Disagree	44	42.3	42.3	66.3
Neutral	3	2.9	2.9	69.2
Agree	24	23.1	23.1	92.3
Strongly concur	8	7.7	7.7	100.0
Total	100	100.0	100.0	

Table 6: The pandemic increased the cost of office operations



Figure 6 illustrates how the epidemic increased the cost of maintaining offices.

According to Table 6 and Figure 6, 24 per cent of the population strongly disagree, 42.3 per cent disagree, 3 per cent are neutral, 23.1 per cent agree, and 7.7 per cent highly agree that the pandemic increased operational expenses. The median response (2.53) reveals that respondents' opinions on the statement are mostly unfavourable. The outcome here showed that most employees did not think that the epidemic has raised office operating costs.

			Valid	
	Frequency	Per cent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Strongly Object	16	15.4	15.4	15.4
Disagree	14	13.5	13.5	28.8
Neutral	9	8.7	8.7	37.5
Agree	33	31.7	31.7	69.2
strongly concur	32	30.8	30.8	100.0
Total	104	100.0	100.0	



Increasing Delivery and Transportation Costs, Figure 7

According to Table 7 and Figure 7, 31.7 per cent agree, 31.8 per cent strongly agree, 9.7 per cent highly agree, 13.5 per cent disagree, and 15.4 per cent vehemently disagree that Covid-19 increased shipping and delivery prices. Employee recognition led to the conclusion that the outbreak raised the cost of delivery and transportation.

				Cumulative
	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Percent
Strongly Object	12	11.5	11.5	11.5
Disagree	15	14.4	14.4	26.0
Neutral	12	11.5	11.5	37.5
Agree	36	34.6	34.6	72.1
strongly concur	29	27.9	27.9	100.0
Total	104	100.0	100.0	

Table 8: Challenges of Covid-19 were more than Opportunities



Figure 8 demonstrates that Covid-19's drawbacks exceeded its advantages.

Information on courier businesses' perspectives on Covid-19 is provided in Table 8 and Figure 8. 11.5 per cent of respondents strongly disagree, 14.4 per cent disagree, 11.5 per cent are indifferent, 34.6 per cent agree, and 27.9 per cent strongly believe that the obstacles of Covid-19 outweighed the potential. Given the foregoing finding, it is clear that a large portion of the workforce saw the epidemic as posing greater problems to their firms.

	Valid			
	Frequency	Per cent	Percent	Cumulative Percent
Strongly Object	28	26.9	26.9	26.9
Disagree	28	26.9	26.9	53.8
Neutral	20	19.2	19.2	73.1
Agree	18	17.3	17.3	90.4
strongly concur	10	9.6	9.6	100.0
Total	104	100.0	100.0	

Table 9: Opportunities of Covid-19 were more than Challenges



Figure 9: Covid-19's benefits outweighed its drawbacks.

Additionally, information on courier businesses' perceptions of Covid-19 is included in Table 9 and Figure 9. The assertion that Covid-19's prospects were greater than its obstacles is strongly disagreed with by 26.9 per cent of respondents, 19.2 per cent of whom are neutral, 17.3 per cent of whom agree, and 9.6 per cent of whom strongly agree. Since many employees do not think that Covid-19 presents more opportunities than obstacles, the outcome is the exact reverse of the prior claim.

Table 10: Courier Customer						
		Valid				
	Frequency	Per cent	Percent	Cumulative Percent		
E-Shop	95	46.1	46.1	46.1		
E-Customer	111	53.9	53.9	100.0		
Total	206	100.0	100.0			

4.2.2 Section B: Information Gathered from Courier Clients

45



Figure 10 depicts the spread of E-Courier customers.

Moreover, half of the respondents (53.9%) are online shoppers, and 46.1% regularly make purchases online, according to Table 10 and Figure 10. This suggests that many consumers prefer to purchase products and services via online retailers, or more specifically, e-commerce companies.

				Cumulative
	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Percent
No patronage exists.	51	24.8	24.8	24.8
Weak patronage	94	45.6	45.6	70.4
Medium patronage	28	13.6	13.6	84.0
High patronage	33	16.0	16.0	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

 Table 11: Patronage of Courier Services in 2020-2021



Courier Service Patronage in 2020-2021 (Fig. 11)

According to Table 11 and Figure 11, in 2020-2021, 24.8 per cent of respondents did not use courier services, 45.6 per cent used them just sometimes, 13.6 per cent used them fairly regularly, and 16 per cent used them frequently. The outcome here showed that courier services were less active in 2020–2021 since many clients felt their support was lacking at the time.

	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
High Affect	72	35.0	35.0	35.0
moderate impact	52	25.2	25.2	60.2
Low Impact	34	16.5	16.5	16.5
No Effect	48	23.3	23.3	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

Table 12: Timeliness of Delivery



Exhibit 12: Timeliness of Delivery

Table 12 and Figure 12 show that 35% of respondents said that Covid-19 had a significant impact on the timeliness of their deliveries, 25.2 % said the outbreak had a medium impact, 16.5 % said it had a little impact, and 23.3 % stated it had no impact. Table 12 and Figure 12 show that 35% of respondents said that Covid-19 had a significant impact on the timeliness of their deliveries, 25.2 % said the outbreak had a medium influence, 16.5 % said it had a little impact, and 23.3 % stated it had no impact.

			Valid	Cumulative
	Frequency	Per cent	Percent	Percent
High Affect	37	18.0	18.0	18.0
Medium Influence	48	23.3	23.3	41.3
Weak Influence	48	23.3	23.3	64.6
No Effect	73	35.4	35.4	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

Table 13: Compliance and Completeness of the Order



Figure 13: The order's conclusion & completion

Table 13 & Figure 13 show that 35.4% of respondents indicated that Covid-19 had no impact on the uniformity and correctness of their order, whereas 23.3% indicated a moderate impact, 23.3% a medium impact, and 18% a large impact. The data in the table made it very evident that the customers did not think the epidemic had any impact on the accuracy and thoroughness of their orders.

	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
High Impact	15	7.3	7.3	7.3
Medium Impact	69	33.5	33.5	40.8
Weak Impact	47	22.8	22.8	63.6
No Impact	75	36.4	36.4	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

Table 14: Lack of Damage to the Shipment



Fig. 14: The shipment is undamaged.

Only 7.3 per cent of survey participants believed Covid-19 had a major influence on the absence of shipment damage, whereas 33.5 per cent, 22.8 per cent, and 36.4 per cent said it had no impact. These results were shown in Table 14 and Figure 14. According to the conclusion, there are divergent views on whether COVID-19 had an impact on the shipment's absence of damage. This could be the result of the variety of experiences they have.

	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Medium Impact	94	45.6	45.6	45.6
Weak Impact	85	41.3	41.3	86.9
No Impact	27	13.1	13.1	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

Table 15: Reliability



Fig 15: Reliability

According to Table 15 & Figure 15, more than half of the respondents (45.6%) said that Covid-19 had a medium influence on the dependability of couriers, 41.3% thought it had a light impact, and 13.1% thought it had no impact. The majority of customers concurred that the epidemic had little impact on how reliable courier services were.

Frequency Per cent Valid Percent **Cumulative Percent** High Impact 91 44.2 44.2 44.2 Medium Impact 44 21.4 21.4 65.5 Weak Impact 34 16.5 16.5 82.0 No Impact 37 18.0 18.0 100.0 Total 206 100.0 100.0

Table 16: Cultured and courteous behaviour of courier company employees



Figure 16: Courier crew professionalism and civility

According to Table 16 and Figure 16, 44.2 per cent of respondents believe Covid-19 has had a significant impact on courier company employees' politeness and culture, 21.4 per cent believe it has had a medium or minor impact, 16.5 per cent believe it has had a negligible impact, and 18 per cent believe it has had no impact at all. The figures show that Covid-19 significantly changed how courier business employees behaved, which may be connected to the safety procedures in effect.

				Cumulative
	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Percent
High Effect	45	21.8	21.8	21.8
moderate impact	55	26.7	26.7	48.5
Low Impact	50	24.3	24.3	72.8
No Effect	56	27.2	27.2	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

Table 17: Easy Contact with the Courier Company



Fig. 17: Simple Methods for Reaching the Courier Company

According to Table 17 and Figure 17, 21.8 per cent of respondents believe that Covid-19 has had a significant impact on how easy it is to contact a courier company, 26.7 per cent think it has had a medium impact, 24.3 per cent think it has had a weak impact, and 27.2 per cent think it has had no impact at all. Customers' opinions on how responsive the courier services they utilised during the epidemic varied.

Table 18: Efficient communication	between	courier	company	employees	and
clients					

	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
High Effect	68	33.0	33.0	33.0
moderate impact	70	34.0	34.0	67.0
Low Impact	54	26.2	26.2	93.2
No Effect	14	6.8	6.8	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	



Fig. 18: Effective client-employee communication in a delivery business

According to Table 18 and Figure 18, 33 per cent of respondents believe that Covid-19 had a significant influence on how well courier business employees and clients communicated, 34 per cent think it had a medium impact, 26.2% think it had a moderate impact, and 6.8% think it had no impact at all. The results above show that the pandemic had an impact on courier business communication over the period. The top responses were high impact and medium impact.

	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
High Impact	26	12.6	12.6	12.6
Medium Impact	105	51.0	51.0	63.0
Weak Impact	73	35.4	35.4	99.0
No Impact	2	1.0	1.0	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

Table 19: Assurance



Fig 19: Assurance

The impact of Covid-19 on the overall number of assurance statements is seen in Table 19 & Figure 19. Covid-19 had a medium influence on courier businesses' assurance, according to 51% of respondents; 35.4 per cent believed it had a weak impact, 12.6 per cent thought it had a big impact, and just 1 respondent considered it had no impact. The pandemic's moderate influence on courier businesses' assurance was found. Customers' experiences during the peak of the epidemic have an impact on the result.

Table 20: Responsiveness of Courier Company to Reported Problems

				Cumulative
	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Percent
High Impact	43	20.9	20.9	20.9
Medium Impact	56	27.2	27.2	48.1
Weak Impact	75	36.4	36.4	84.5
No Impact	32	15.5	15.5	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	



Figure 20 shows The Courier Company's response to complaints.

Covid-19 had a significant influence on the courier company's reaction to reported issues, according to Table 20 and Figure 20, whereas 27.2 per cent of respondents thought it had a medium impact, 36.4 per cent thought it had a moderate impact, and 15.5 per cent thought it had no impact at all. Given the aforementioned, it is logical to presume that the epidemic there had little to no impact on courier services' timeliness.

	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
High Impact	103	50.0	50.0	50.0
Medium Impact	69	33.5	33.5	83.5
Weak Impact	13	6.3	6.3	89.8
No Impact	21	10.2	10.2	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

Table 21: Efficient and Fast Order Processing



Delivering orders quickly and efficiently (Figure 21)

According to Table 21 and Figure 21, Covid-19 had a significant influence on the timely and accurate processing of orders, with 33.5 per cent of respondents attributing a considerable impact, 6.3 per cent attributing a mild impact, and 10.2 per cent attributing no impact.

	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
High Effect	65	31.6	31.6	31.6
moderate impact	41	19.9	19.9	51.5
Low Impact	18	8.7	8.7	60.2
No Effect	82	39.8	39.8	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

Table 22: Flexibility in the Choice or Change of Date and Place of Service



Figure 22: Service Date and Location Flexibility Option or Change

Covid-19 had no impact on 39.8% of respondents, a little impact on 8.7% of respondents, a medium impact on 19.9% of respondents, a strong impact on 31.6 per cent of respondents, and no impact on the decision-making process or the ability to modify the date and location of the service (Table 22 and Figure 22).

	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
High Effect	21	10.2	10.2	10.2
moderate impact	109	52.9	52.9	63.1
Low Impact	65	31.6	31.6	94.7
No Effect	11	5.3	5.3	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

Table 23: Responsiveness



Fig 23: Responsiveness

The opinions of respondents on how Covid-19 has affected courier service responsiveness are shown in Table 23 and Figure 23 above. 52.9 per cent of respondents believe Covid-19 had a moderate impact on responsiveness, whereas 31.6 per cent believe the outbreak there was little to no influence, 10.2 per cent believe it had a significant impact, and only 5.3 per cent believe it had no impact.

	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Strongly Object	17	8.3	8.3	8.3
Disagree	75	36.4	36.4	44.7
Neutral	32	15.5	15.5	60.2
Agree	51	24.8	24.8	85.0
strongly concur	31	15.0	15.0	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

Table 24: Challenges were more than Opportunities



Covid-19's difficulties exceeded its possibilities (Fig. 24).

Table 24 and Figure 24 show that of those who say that Covid-19 presented more challenges than opportunities, 15.5% strongly agree, 24.8% believe it, 15.5% aren't sure, 36.4% disagree, and 8.3% disagree. Many customers did not consider the outbreak to be a problem or a barrier to providing services.

				Cumulative
	Frequency	Per cent	Valid Percent	Percent
Strong Disagree	35	17.0	17.0	17.0
Disagree	58	28.2	28.2	45.1
Neutral	40	19.4	19.4	64.6
Agree	50	24.3	24.3	88.8
Strongly agree	23	11.2	11.2	100.0
Total	206	100.0	100.0	

Table 25: Opportunities of Covid-19 were more than Challenges



Figure 25: Covid-19's benefits outweighed its drawbacks.

Information on the perspective of E-clients about Covid-19 is shown in Table 25 and Figure 25. There were more opportunities than challenges during the COVID-19 pandemic, according to 11.2 per cent of respondents who strongly agree with this statement, 24.3 per cent of respondents who agree, 19.4 per cent of respondents who are neutral, 28.2 per cent of respondents who disagree, and 17per cent of respondents who strongly disagree. The majority of clients disagree that the epidemic presented the courier services with more opportunities than obstacles. This can be because they had trouble transporting the goods to their intended location.

4.3 Inferential Statistics

To determine whether there is a substantial correlation between COVID-19 worries and how Nigerian courier firms see the COVID-19 pandemic, this section will employ statistical Chi-Squared approaches.

4.3.1 Test of Hypotheses

Through the course of the research, two possibilities will be looked at: H1₀: The quality of Nigeria's courier services is unaffected by COVID-19. H2₀: The difficulties caused by COVID-19 and how Nigerian courier firms see the COVID-19 epidemic are not significantly related.

Chi-Squared Analysis

 Table 26: Chi-Square Tests Showing Impact of COVID-19 on courier service

 quality

	Value	Df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	35.153ª	12	.000
Likelihood Ratio	48.615	12	.000
Linear-by-Linear Association	7.979	1	.005
N of Valid Cases	100		

a. 11 (55.0%) of the cells had anticipated values of less than 5. The bare minimum expected count is 1.36.

The Chi-squared results in Table 26 show how Covid-19 has an impact on the courier service grade. A 35.153 score on the Pearson Chi-Square test had a significance level of 0.000. This suggests that Covid-19 has a significant effect on the calibre of the delivery service. The h0 is therefore rejected, and it is determined that Covid-19 significantly affects the calibre of Nigeria's courier service.

Table 27: Chi-Square Tests Showing the relationship between the challenges posed
by COVID-19 and the perception of courier companies in Nigeria towards the
COVID-19 pandemic

	Value	Df	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	40.791ª	16	.001
Likelihood Ratio	31.606	16	.011
Linear-by-Linear	2.324	1	.127
Association	2.324	1	.127
N of Valid Cases	100		

a. 17 (68.0 per cent) of the cells had anticipated numbers less than 5. The predicted count must be at least.60.

The issues caused by COVID-19 and courier firms' perceptions of the COVID-19 pandemic in Nigeria are related, as seen in Table 27's Chi-squared results. The Pearson Chi-Square, with a level of 40.791 and a significance threshold of 0.001, suggests a substantial association between the challenges caused by COVID-19 and how Nigerian courier businesses perceive the pandemic. The study's second hypothesis was disproved, leading to the conclusion that there is a substantial correlation between the difficulties caused by COVID-19 and how courier firms in Nigeria see the epidemic.

4.3.2 Factor Analyses: Challenges of COVID-19 for Courier Companies in Nigeria The study used factor analysis to identify what the COVID-19 outbreak's biggest problems were for Nigerian courier companies.

KMO and Bartlett's Test				
Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy572				
Bartlett's Test of Sphericity	Approx. Chi-Square	13.669		
	Df	10		
	Sig.	.009		

Table 28:KMO and Bartlett's Test

Table 28 presents the findings of the KMO and Bartlett's test, which evaluates how well the gathered data is appropriate for factor analysis. It assesses sample adequacy for the entire model as well as for each variable. KMO must be more than 0.5 and Bartlett's test of sphericity must be significant for data to be deemed suitable for factor analysis. The significance level for Bartlett's test is 0.009, and the KMO coefficient is 0.572. It suggests that the information used to calculate the factor loadings was appropriate.

Table 29:Communalities

Communalities		
	Initial	Extraction
The outbreak hampered the supply chain (lockdown, market	1.000	.542
closures, transport)		
The mobility limitations of COVID-19 caused logistical issues.	1.000	.741
The government does not place a high priority on courier and	1.000	.772
online shopping		
The pandemic drove up the price of running an office.	1.000	.572
Fees for transportation and delivery are being raised.	1.000	.515
The extraction technique is Principal Component Analysis.		

The proportion of variation that is explained by the retrieved components is represented by commonalities. The percentage of each item's variance that can be explained by its variables or components is shown by the extraction number above. According to the results above, the extraction value is much greater than 0.5. This suggests that each model component has a close relationship with the other parts of the set. Low extraction values indicate that the responses were not well worded, and that the responder did not fully comprehend the questions.

Total Variance Explained						
Component	Initial Eigenvalues		Extractio	on Sums o	of Squared	
			Loadings			
	Total	% of	Cumulative	Total	% of	Cumulative
		Variance	%		Variance	%
1	1.442	28.833	28.833	1.442	28.833	28.833
2	.996	19.917	48.750			
3	.942	18.845	67.595			
4	.915	18.307	85.902			
5	.705	14.098	100.000			
Extraction Method: Principal Component Analysis.						

Table 30:Total Variance Explained

All the retrieved components are displayed in the total variance explained. The findings reveal elements and variables that need to be kept. An element or component is kept as long as its Eigen value is greater than 1.0.

Table 31:	Principal Component Matrix
-----------	----------------------------

Principal Component Matrix ^a		
	Component	
	1	
The outbreak made the distribution network challenging (lockdown,	.204	
market closures, transport)		
The mobility limitations of COVID-19 caused logistical issues.	.584	
The government does not prioritise courier and online commerce.	.521	
The pandemic drove up the price of running an office.	757	
Higher delivery and transportation expenses	.464	
Principal Component Analysis is the extraction technique.		
a. One component was extracted.		

The primary component analysis findings, as well as the unique values of each question connected to COVID-19's most serious challenges for courier services in Nigeria, are displayed in the table above. Uniqueness provides the percentage of the common varieties of the variable that is unrelated to the variables. The variance is what makes a variable "unique" and apart from other variables. The importance of the variable in the factor model decreases with increasing "uniqueness," and increases with decreasing "uniqueness." This strategy is used in this study to identify the COVID-19 problems that are most important to courier businesses in Nigeria. Table 31 above demonstrates that the pandemic's rise in-office operating expenses is the biggest obstacle. This is because they have the lowest values of any group as a result of their negative uniqueness value.

4.3.3 Factor Analyses: Perception of Courier Companies in Nigeria Towards COVID-19

The attitudes of courier companies toward the COVID-19 pandemic are shown in the graph below.

KMO and Bartlett's Test					
A measure of Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Sampling Adequacy502					
Sphericity Test by Bartlett	st by Bartlett Approx. Chi-Square 84.643				
	Df	1			
	Sig.	.000			

Table 32:KMO and Bartlett's Test

Table 32 contains the results of the KMO and Bartlett's test, which assesses how well the gathered material is appropriate for factor analysis. For the entire model as a whole and each variable in the model, sampling adequacy is evaluated. For the data to be regarded as suitable for factor analysis, Bartlett's test of sphericity must be substantial and KMO must be more than 0.5. Using Bartlett's test with a significance threshold of 0.000, the KMO coefficient is 0.502. It implies that the data used may be subjected to factor analysis.

Table 33: Communalities

Communalities		
	Initial	Extraction
For Nigerian courier companies, the COVID-19 outbreak of	1.000	.792
2020–2021 proved terrible (Challenges were more		
opportunities)		
The COVID-19 epidemic in 2020–2021 was good for Nigerian	1.000	.792
courier businesses (Opportunities were more than challenges)		
The principal component analysis is the extraction method.		•

Commonalities are a representation of the percentage of variance that the recovered components can explain. The percentage of variance for each item that is explained by the variables or components is shown by the extraction value above. The extraction value is substantially more than 0.5, according to the aforementioned result. This suggests that each component of the model is tightly connected to the others. Items with

low extraction values are regarded as poorly constructed since the respondent does not understand the questions.

Component	Initial E	Eigenvalues		Loading Extraction Sums Squared		
	Total	% of	Cumulative	Total	% of	Cumulative
		Variance	%		Variance	%
1	1.583	79.167	79.167	1.583	79.167	79.167
2	.417	20.833	100.000			

Table 34:Total Variance Explained

All the retrieved components are shown in the total variance explained. Which elements and factors should be retained are suggested by the results. One factor or component exceeds the Eigenvalue of 1.0 and is maintained as a result.

Table 35: Principal Component Matrix

Principal Component Matrix ^a				
	Component			
	1			
For Nigerian courier companies, the COVID-19 outbreak of 2020-	890			
2021 proved terrible (Challenges were more opportunities)				
The 2020–2021 COVID-19 outbreak period was advantageous for	.890			
Nigerian courier companies (Opportunities were more than challenges)				
The extraction technique is principal component analysis.				
a. One component was extracted.				

The outcomes of the main component analysis for each of the questions on the opinions of the courier industry towards the COVID-19 epidemic in Nigeria are displayed in the table below. Uniqueness provides the portion of the common varieties of the variable that is not related to the components. The variance does not apply to other variables and is "unique" to the variable. The factor model's weight for the variable decreases with increasing "uniqueness," while its relevance increases with decreasing "uniqueness."

Table 35 gives the basic impression that the Nigerian courier industry did not benefit from the COVID-19 outbreak in the years 2020–2021. This is because they have the lowest values of any group as a result of their negative uniqueness value.

4.4 Discussion of Findings

The courier services industry in Nigeria is generally untapped. A government official who works for NIPOST, the regulator of the industry, admitted that only about 20 per cent of the potential of the industry is exploited (Okonji, 2019). This is also reflected in the fact that the majority of respondents work for courier companies with less than 100 employees, indicating a medium-sized operation throughout the industry. This may not be unconnected with the ease of doing business. Nigeria was rated 112th on the Logistics Performance Index and 145th for Ease of Doing Business in 2018 out of 190 nations (United States ITA, 2021). Challenges include insecurity, instability, political, environmental, and cultural inequalities that have all contributed to the demise of numerous businesses, particularly micro, small, and medium-sized companies, as well as the relocation of large corporations to other nations. The Nigerian economy has several general economic issues, such as extreme inequality, widening wealth disparities between the North and the South, insufficient infrastructure, a convoluted and opaque regulatory environment, corruption, and a rising population (Ukanwa, 2022). Although government mismanagement is large to be blamed, the state of the industry is also reflected in literature, with limited research on the Nigerian industry based on the comprehensive literature search carried out concerning this study. In some ways, this study's determination to research the impact of COVID-19 on business is pioneering work that contributes to breaking down barriers and bringing the industry's situation to the forefront of public conversation and debate. However, it is important to note that the situation with the global courier services industry does not improve to a great extent. Globally, there is a dearth of research concerning courier services (Gulc, 2021). Therefore, concerning comparing the results of this study with similar findings in the literature, there is a very limited number of references available.

The COVID-19 epidemic had a significant influence on the operations of various organisations, according to the managers who responded to the questionnaires issued to courier companies. To validate the responses of these managers at the various courier companies, a hypothesis was also designed and tested (H1). The null hypothesis was

rejected, leading to the conclusion that the pandemic had a significant impact on courier operations. Further investigation into how the managers rated the challenges posed by the pandemic shows disruption of the supply chain (lockdown, market closures, transport) and restriction of movement posed the greatest impact descriptively. These results agreed with the results obtained by the multi-country survey by UNCTAD (2020) which posed the same challenges to companies. Moreover, there was an agreement between the findings of this study and the report in the area of increased costs associated with COVID-19. In both this study and the report, cost-related challenges were generally rated low. Most respondents believed that the outbreak did not lead to a rise in office operations as far as the cost of running the business was concerned. Most of the businesses' use of the work-from-home method may help to explain this. This reduced the cost of running an office by allowing workers whose duties could be done remotely to work from home. Furthermore, the epidemic encouraged businesses to use technical and inventive methods, resulting in cost savings. It was also discovered that the epidemic increased transportation and delivery expenses. This result is at odds with the findings of Izzah, Dilaila, and Yao (2021), who found that the pandemic increased the expense of office operations. However, inferential research showed that the expense of running offices was the biggest issue facing courier services. However, the result of the inferential analysis is ignored due to the negative uniqueness value obtained. Since the costs of business operations were not significantly impacted as measured descriptively, although the COVID-19 pandemic presented more opportunities, courier companies could not maximize the opportunities. This is explained by the government-imposed shutdown, which compelled many businesses (including courier firms) to stop operations during the period. However, due to the low level of operations, corporations were compelled to adopt austerity measures such as laying off employees or paying a small fraction of their income.

According to courier businesses, Covid-19 affected logistics and the supply chain since the majority of clients locked their doors and travel was prohibited. Market closures and restrictions (closing and opening times) also impacted the supply chain, forcing courier firms to rearrange travel to marketplaces based on opening days. This was also the situation in Poland, where courier firms' response to the epidemic included ordering office employees to leave, lowering compensation, and laying off unneeded personnel (Bylen, 2020). Therefore, considering the low levels of COVID-19 deaths in Nigeria, one could argue that the move by the government to copy lockdown policies from western countries was unjust to companies. Respondent data verified this, with the vast majority of respondents believing that the government did not promote courier and E-commerce, instead focusing on enterprises that perform and create services and items deemed necessary.

The study's inferential analysis revealed a substantial association between the issues provided by COVID-19 and the perspective of courier firms in Nigeria about the COVID-19 pandemic. In other words, the courier companies viewed the pandemic as more of a challenge than an opportunity. This was further supported by a poll question in which every respondent believed that difficulties were more significant than opportunities. This concurs with the findings of Cruden, Campbell, and Saldana (2021), who concluded that the epidemic caused more problems for courier services. However, courier clients' assessments of Covid-19 difficulties against potential were mostly neutral. Information gathered from courier services clients showed that their patronage level was weak during the period under review. This was consistent with the findings of Unnikrishnan (2020), who discovered that Covid-19 had a considerable impact on customer demand. Cruden, Campbell, and Saldana (2021) discovered minimal patronage in their investigations as well, showing that most individuals were unable to utilise courier service due to constraints. From the service point of view, the hypothesis designed showed a significant impact on courier service quality. Descriptively, the most influential aspects are effective and rapid order processing, the cultured and polite demeanour of courier business staff, and delivery timeliness. The areas of high impact are in general agreement with the findings of (Gulc, 2021). These are the key aspects that courier companies in Nigeria should focus on in any COVID-19 recovery model for courier companies in Nigeria.

CHAPTER FIVE

CONCLUSION

5.1 Summary of Major Findings

This study found, among other things, that the courier companies in Nigeria are operating on a small scale with less than 100 employees. This study also found that the COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the operations of courier companies in Nigeria. The most significant impacts were not associated with costs but rather restrictions on people. Consequently, government-led restriction policies posed the greatest challenge that the industry faced in 2020 and 2021, the years under review. The data also found that courier service quality was most influenced in three areas: order processing efficiency and speed, cultured and polite behaviour of courier firm staff, and delivery timeliness. Moreover, from the perspectives of both courier companies and clients, the pandemic was generally viewed to have created more challenges than opportunities.

5.2 Conclusion

The conclusion of this study in this section is presented through the lens of the objectives which the study set out to achieve. This study's primary objective was to examine how the COVID-19 pandemic affected the level of service provided by courier companies in Nigeria. Particular focus was given to 2020 and 2021 which was adjudged to be the worst period of the pandemic. The corresponding findings revealed that COVID-19 has had a significant impact on courier companies in Nigeria, consistent with findings from around the world. However, the subsequent analysis found that the dimensions of service quality most influenced include order processing efficiency and speed, cultured and polite behaviour of courier business staff, and delivery punctuality. The second goal of this study was to explore and identify the most critical pandemic problems for courier firms in Nigeria. This study concludes that the most significant challenge that courier companies faced in Nigeria was government-induced in the form of the various restrictions that were put in place. Perhaps restrictions were justifiable in other global contexts, the local context of COVID-19 infections and death rates in Nigeria did not warrant such extreme measures. This study also concludes that the most significant challenges of COVID-19 concerning the operations of courier companies were not financial in nature. The final goal of this study was to examine how courier industry players in Nigeria see the pandemic in terms of possibilities and problems. This study concludes that both providers and clients of courier services felt the pandemic created more challenges than opportunities.

5.3 Recommendation, Limitation and Future Studies

The courier services sector in Nigeria was already dealing with significant problems before the epidemic, however, the recommendations presented below are especially based on the study's findings and conclusions.

• Courier companies in Nigeria have suffered severe consequences as a result of unnecessary government-imposed COVID restrictions. Given that most established courier companies are foreign and operate on a small scale, hostile business policies could stifle what is left of the little incentive that keeps them in the Nigerian market. The least the government can now do is to design special policies that would support the operations of courier companies. This can include measures such as tax exemption, tax postponement, tax reduction and possibly compensation. This is important for any model designed for COVID-19 recovery.

• Courier companies in Nigeria must, as a matter of service quality, invest in improving the speed of order processing and timeliness of delivery. These are the identified priority dimensions of service quality concerning the Nigerian market. For achieving a high level of courier service quality, factors relating to interaction, communication, and responsiveness of workers are very crucial. Moreover, companies should focus more on the interpersonal and communication abilities of staff members who deal directly with clients. This could be achieved through technology or training employees so that they can better handle clients in times of extreme pressure.

• The major courier industry stakeholders (namely the Nigerian government and courier companies) should keep investing in the expansion of infrastructure (such as the network of roads in the case of the government and pick-up or drop-off locations in the case of courier companies) and cutting-edge information technology that allows access to mobile and individualized service to guarantee timely and effective parcel delivery. It is essential to put into practice ideas targeted at further automating courier services including using artificial intelligence to cut down on service delivery times.
• With regards to potential future disasters, the government is admonished to investigate the local context of the industry in Nigeria before adopting and implementing foreign policies that could be draconian and crippling to especially small and medium enterprises.

• As the pandemic persists, courier companies should continue to provide updated health recommendations and safety instructions to employees. Companies should also explore options for reducing costs of operations such as through remote work, contactless or autonomous delivery and operating with fully digital processes. In terms of crisis as the COVID-19 pandemic, customers tend to increase their reliance on digital means for continuing patronage.

This study has some limitations that create opportunities for future research. Concerning time, this study is limited to 2020 and 2021 as clearly stated to respondents in the questionnaire used. The study is limited to the local context of Nigeria. It may not reflect what is obtainable in other countries even as Nigeria presents a unique context that is most likely different from other countries. Therefore, future research can explore the situation in other countries so that challenges can be better addressed in those specific local contexts. Furthermore, the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is not restricted to the courier business as explored here. Therefore, for future study, a cross-industry analysis could also be useful so that other industries in Nigeria can be studied. If the pandemic persists beyond the current short term, similar research can be conducted in the next 24 months to determine further time-impact of the pandemic on courier service quality. The fact that this study used a survey method to collect data makes it particularly susceptible to response or survey bias. Therefore, future studies could consider adopting a purely analytical approach, based on measurable data.

REFERENCES LIST

Accenture (2019). *Cross Border: The Disruptive Frontier*. [online] Accenture.com. Available at: https://www.accenture.com/us-en/insights/public-service/postal-crossborder [Accessed 16 Nov. 2021].

Acee-Eke, B.C. and Ikegwuru, M.C. (2020). Coronavirus Containment Measures and Patronage of Supermarkets: An Empirical Study. Contemporary Marketing Research Journal (CMRJ) 7(3), pp. 40-49.

Adeniran, A. O., and Sidiq, B. O. (2018). Economic Recession and The Way-Out: Nigeria as Case Study. Global Journal of Human Social Science, 18(1), pp. 181-192.

Aelex (2021). The Regulation of Courier and Logistic Companies in Nigeria.

Ajide, K.B., Ibrahim, R.L. and Alimi, O.Y. (2020). Estimating the impacts of lockdown on Covid-19 cases in Nigeria. *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, 7, p.100217. doi:10.1016/j.trip.2020.100217.

Akbari, M. and Do, T.N.A. (2021). A systematic review of machine learning in logistics and supply chain management: current trends and future directions. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print). doi:10.1108/bij-10-2020-0514.

Alakaş, H.M. and Eren, T. (2021). Integrated Systems and Utilization in Logistics. *Accounting, Finance, Sustainability, Governance & Fraud: Theory and Application*, pp.171–190. doi:10.1007/978-981-16-5644-6_11.

Alu, A., Chen, L., Lei, H., Wei, Y., Tian, X. and Wei, X. (2022). Intranasal COVID-19 vaccines: From bench to bed. *eBioMedicine*, 76, p.103841. doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2022.103841.

Aregbeshola, B. S., and Khan, S. M. (2018). Out-Of-Pocket Payments, Catastrophic Health Expenditure and Poverty Among Households in Nigeria 2010. International Journal of Health Policy and Management, 7(9), pp. 798. Aspara, J., Grant, D.B. and Holmlund, M. (2020). Consumer Involvement in Supply networks: a Cubic Typology of C2B2C and C2B2B Business Models. *Industrial Marketing Management*. [online] doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.09.004.

Assaad, R. and El-adaway, I.H. (2021). Guidelines for Responding to COVID-19 Pandemic: Best Practices, Impacts, and Future Research Directions. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, 37(3), p.06021001. doi:10.1061/(asce)me.1943-5479.0000906.

Ayodele, D.V. (2022). Socio-Economic Effects of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) on Logistics Industry in a Developing Nation. *European Journal of Logistics, Purchasing and Supply Chain Management*, [online] 10(1), pp.24–30. Available at: https://tudr.org/id/eprint/423 [Accessed 1 May 2022].

Balogun, F. B.; Mbah, K. and Omoniyi, O. (2021). Nigeria: The Regulation of Courier and Logistics Company in Nigeria. Contributor-AELEX, Mondaq publication Online at:https://www.mondaq.com/nigeria/contracts-and-commerciallaw/1026460/the-regulation-ofcourier-and-logistic-companies-in-nigeria

Bickman, L., Rog, D.J. and Best, S.J. (2009). *The SAGE handbook of applied social research methods*. Los Angeles, California: Sage.

Bluman, A.G. (2018). *Elementary statistics: a step by step approach*. New York, Ny: Mcgraw-Hill Education.

Boccaletti, S., Ditto, W., Mindlin, G. and Atangana, A. (2020). Modeling and Forecasting of Epidemic Spreading: The case of Covid-19 and beyond. Chaos, Solitons & Fractals, 135, pp. 109794.

Borca, B., Putz, L. M., and Hofbauer, F. (2021). Crises and Their Effects On Freight Transport Modes: A Literature Review and Research Framework. Sustainability, 13(10), pp. 5740. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13105740

Bratt, C., Sroufe, R. and Broman, G. (2021). Implementing Strategic Sustainable Supply Chain Management. *Sustainability*, 13(15), pp.8132.

Burns, T. E., and Stalker, G. M. (1961). The management of innovation. University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign's Academy for Entrepreneurial Leadership Historical Research Reference in Entrepreneurship.

Butt, A.S. (2021). Understanding the implications of pandemic outbreaks on supply chains: an exploratory study of the effects caused by the COVID-19 across four South Asian countries and steps taken by firms to address the disruptions. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print). doi:10.1108/ijpdlm-08-2020-0281.

Casaca, A.C.P. and Lyridis, D.V. (2020). The reasons and the policy instruments behind cabotage policies. *Maritime Policy & Management*, pp.1–28. doi:10.1080/03088839.2020.1791992.

Christensen, L.B., Johnson, B. and Turner, L. (2015). *Research methods, design, and analysis*. Harlow, Essex, England: Pearson Education Limited.

Coombs, W. T. (2007). Protecting Organization Reputations During a Crisis: The Development and Application of Situational Crisis Communication Theory. Corporate Reputation Review, 10(3), pp. 163-177.

Correia, D.M., Teixeira, L. and Marques, J.L. (2021). *Smart Supply Chain Management: The 5W1H Open and Collaborative Framework*. [online] IEEE Xplore. doi:10.1109/ICIEA52957.2021.9436817.

Cruden, G., Campbell, M. and Saldana, L. (2021). Impact of COVID-19 on service delivery for an evidence-based behavioral treatment for families involved in the child welfare system. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 129, p.108388. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2021.108388.

Cyert, R. M., and March, J. G. (1963). A Behavioral Theory of the Firm. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

Czinkota, M.R., Kotabe, M., Vrontis, D. and Shams, S.M.R. (2021). Distribution and Supply Chain Management. *Springer Texts in Business and Economics*, pp.499–552. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-66916-4_11.

Desai, Y. (2021). *Navigating COVID-19 Impact on Transportation and Logistics Ecosystems*. [online] KPMG. Available at: https://advisory.kpmg.us/articles/2020/covid-19-impact-transportation-logistics.html [Accessed 6 Apr. 2022].

Difrancesco, R.M., van Schilt, I. and Winkenbach, M. (2021). Optimal in-store fulfillment policies for online orders in an omni-channel retail environment. *European Journal of Operational Research*. doi:10.1016/j.ejor.2021.01.007.

Dones, R.L.E. and Young, M.N. (2020). *Demand on the of Courier Services during COVID-19 Pandemic in the Philippines*. [online] IEEE Xplore. Available at: https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/9266722.

DPD Group (2019). E-shoppers in Europe: 2019 Barometer. [pdf] DPD Group. Available at: https://www.dpd.com/group/wp-content/uploads/sites/77/2020/02/E-shoppers-in-Europe_2019-Barometer_EN.pdf> [Assessed 30 May 2020].

Dunlap, E. (2020). How to Start Run & Grow a Successful Courier Business: Make Money and Be Your Own Boss by Delivering Packages, Documents & Parcels Write Business Plan That Focuses on Marketing, Advertising & Growth.

Edward, S. (2021). *Global Logistics: New Directions in Supply Chain Management*. Editora: S.L.: Kogan Page.

Egbejule, M. (2022). *NIPOST Trains Edo Courier Service Providers | the Guardian Nigeria News - Nigeria and World News*. [online] The Guardian Nigeria News - Nigeria and World News. Available at: https://guardian.ng/news/nipost-trains-edo-courier-service-providers/ [Accessed 9 Apr. 2022].

Elebeke, E. (2020). *FG Approves New Guidelines for Courier, Logistics Operations*. [online] Vanguard News. Available at: https://www.vanguardngr.com/2020/07/fgapproves-new-guidelines-for-courier-logistics-operations/ [Accessed 6 Apr. 2022].

Endres, H. (2018). Adaptability Through Dynamic Capabilities: How Management Can Recognize Opportunities and Threats. Wiesbaden, Germany: Springer Gabler. Escolas, S.M., Luton, M., Ferdosi, H., Chavez, B.D. and Engel, S.D. (2020). Traumatic Brain Injuries: Unreported and Untreated in an Army Population. *Military Medicine*, 185(Supplement_1), pp.154–160. doi:10.1093/milmed/usz259.

FAO and INRAE (2020). *Enabling Sustainable Food Systems: Innovators' Handbook*. Rome: FAO. doi:10.4060/ca9917en.

Fenech, Falzon, F.A.-N.V. and Bugeja, T. (2020). *The Covid-19 Economy - couriers, Deliveries and Legal Issues / Lexology*. [online] Available at: https://www.lexology.com/library/detail.aspx?g=b8a8716a-ecbc-4534-802a-2d84366e65eb.

Flynn, J. (2021). *Purchasing and Supply Management Fourteenth Edition*. [online] Available at:

http://dspace.vnbrims.org:13000/jspui/bitstream/123456789/4199/1/Purchasing%20% 26%20Supply%20Chain%20Management.pdf.

Folarin, S.F. and Ayodele, O.T. (2021). Classroom Beyond Borders: Teaching and Learning Strategies in Nigeria and Covenant University in the Global COVID-19 Lockdown. In: N.D. Kundu and A.N. Ngalim, eds., *COVID-19: Impact on Education and beyond*. Delhi: Vij Books (India) Pty Ltd.

Fournier, P.-E., Zandotti, C., Ninove, L., Prudent, E., Colson, P., Gazin, C., Million, M., Tissot-Dupont, H. and Fenollar, F. (2020). Contribution of VitaPCR SARS-CoV-2 to the emergency diagnosis of COVID-19. *J Clin Virol*, [online] pp.104682–104682. Available at: https://search.bvsalud.org/global-literature-on-novel-coronavirus-2019-ncov/resource/en/covidwho-894014 [Accessed 20 Jun. 2022].

Fuwape, I.A., Okpalaonwuka, C.T. and Ogunjo, S.T. (2020). Impact of COVID -19 pandemic lockdown on distribution of inorganic pollutants in selected cities of Nigeria. *Air Quality, Atmosphere & Health.* doi:10.1007/s11869-020-00921-8.

Gall, M.D., Gall, J.P. and Borg, W.R. (2007). *Educational research: an introduction*.8th ed. Boston: Pearson/Allyn & Bacon.

Giuffrida, M., Jiang, H. and Mangiaracina, R. (2021). Investigating the relationships between uncertainty types and risk management strategies in cross-border e-

commerce logistics. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print). doi:10.1108/ijlm-04-2020-0158.

Grant, D. B. (2012). Logistics Management, Pearson, London.

Gulc, A. (2017). Courier service quality from the clients' perspective. *Engineering Management in Production and Services*, 9(1), pp.36–45.

Gulc, A. (2021). Multi-stakeholder Perspective of Courier Service Quality in B2C ecommerce. *PLOS ONE*, 16(5), p.e0251728. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0251728.

Hagen, T. and Scheel-Kopeinig, S. (2021). Would customers be willing to use an alternative (chargeable) delivery concept for the last mile? *Research in Transportation Business & Management*, p.100626. doi:10.1016/j.rtbm.2021.100626.

Hair, J.F., Money, A.H., Page, M. and Samouel, P. (2007). *Research Methods for Business*. Chichester, West Sussex, England; Hoboken, N.J.: John Wiley & Sons.

Himanshu, Chandel, S.S. and Bhagwat, K. (2022). Forward and Reverse Logistics in
E-Commerce Firms. World Scientific Series in Asian Business and Management
Studies, pp.205–226. doi:10.1142/9789811245992_0011.

Huang, H.-L., Jan, C.-F.J., Bih-Jeng Chang, B. and Chiu, T.-Y. (2021). Factors influencing the willingness of primary care physicians to provide care during the coronavirus disease pandemic: a nationwide survey in Taiwan. *BMJ Open*, [online] 11(7), p.e049148. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2021-049148.

IBISWorld (2021). *IBISWorld - Industry Market Research, Reports, and Statistics*. [online] Ibisworld.com. Available at: https://www.ibisworld.com/global/marketresearch-reports/global-courier-delivery-services-industry/ [Accessed 9 Apr. 2022].

Ikegwuru, M.K. and Harcourt, H. (2020). Cronavirus Containment Measures and Rapid-Fire Changes in Purchase Behaviour in Rivers State of Nigeria. Contemporary Marketing Research Journal(CMRJ).7(3), pp. 11-24.

Ingrassia, P.L., Capogna, G., Diaz-Navarro, C., Szyld, D., Tomola, S. and Leon-Castelao, E. (2020). COVID-19 crisis, safe reopening of simulation centres and the new normal: food for thought. *Advances in Simulation*, 5(1). doi:10.1186/s41077-020-00131-3.

Israel, G. D. (2012). *Determining Sample Size*. The University of Florida. https://www.psycholosphere.com/Determining%20sample%20size%20by%20Glen% 20Israel.pdf

Ivanov, D. (2020). Predicting the Impacts of Epidemic Outbreaks on Global Supply chains: a simulation-based Analysis on the Coronavirus Outbreak (COVID-19/SARS-CoV-2) Case. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, [online] 136, p.101922. doi:10.1016/j.tre.2020.101922.

Izzah, N., Dilaila, F. and Yao, L. (2021). The growth of reliance towards courier services through e-business verified during COVID-19: Malaysia. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 1874(1), p.012041. doi:10.1088/1742-6596/1874/1/012041.

Jarocka, M. and Wang, H., (2018). Definition and Classification Criteria of Logistics Services for Elderly. Engineering Management in Production and Services, [ejournal] 10(4), pp. 65-75. DOI: 10.2478/emj-2018-0023.

Jintana, J., Sopadang, A. and Ramingwong, S. (2021). Idea Selection of New Service for Courier business: The Opportunity of Data Analytics. *International Journal of Engineering Business Management*, 13, p.184797902110421. doi:10.1177/18479790211042191.

Karaca, Y., Cattani, C. and De, W. (2019). *Computational methods for data analysis*. Berlin De Gruyter.

Kathuria, S., Grover, A., Perego, V.M.E., Mattoo, A. and Banerjee, P. (2020). *Unleashing E-Commerce for South Asian Integration*. [online] Washington, DC: World Bank. doi:10.1596/978-1-4648-1519-5.

Khan, A.M. and Shaheen, S.A. (2022). *Shared Mobility and Automated Vehicles: Responding to Socio-Technical Changes and Pandemics*. Stevenage: Institution of Engineering and Technology. Kumar, G. S. (2018.). A Study On Use of Logistics Management by Courier Services in India. International Journal of Engineering Sciences & Research Technology, 7 (2), pp. 136-140.

Kumari, P. and Toshniwal, D. (2020). Impact of lockdown on air quality over major cities across the globe during COVID-19 pandemic. *Urban Climate*, 34, p.100719. doi:10.1016/j.uclim.2020.100719.

Lanzini, F., Ubacht, J. and Greeff, J.D. (2021). Blockchain adoption factors for SMEs in supply chain management. *Journal of Supply Chain Management Science*, [online] 2(1-2), pp.47–68. doi:10.18757/jscms.2021.5624.

Lewin, A. Y. and Volberda, H. W. (1999). Prolegomena on coevolution: A Framework for Research on Strategy and New Organizational Forms. Organization Science, 10(5): pp. 519-534.

Lin, Y., Fan, D., Shi, X. and Fu, M. (2021). The Effects of Supply Chain Diversification During The COVID-19 Crisis: Evidence from Chinese Manufacturers. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 155, p. 102493.

Liu, H., Yang, R. and Shi, H. (2021). The impact of the platform economy and environmental regulations on the technical efficiency of the express delivery industry. *International Journal of Logistics Research and Applications*, pp.1–18. doi:10.1080/13675567.2021.1923669.

Luman, R., Soroka, O. and Konings, J. (2021). *ING's Transport and Logistics Sector Outlook*. [online] ING Think. Available at: https://think.ing.com/articles/ing-covid-19-pandemic-transport-and-logistics-sector-outlook [Accessed 6 Apr. 2022].

Mahoney, J., and Rueschemeyer, D. (2003). Comparative Historical Analysis in theSocial Sciences. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Mancini, S. and Gansterer, M. (2021). Vehicle routing with private and shared delivery locations. *Computers & Operations Research*, 133, p.105361. doi:10.1016/j.cor.2021.105361.

Mariki, D. (2021). *Impacts of e-commerce last-mile modes on the environment and the mediating role of sustainable logistics technology*. [online] www.theseus.fi. Available at: https://www.theseus.fi/handle/10024/495474 [Accessed 1 May 2022].

Martinez-Falero, E., Martin-Fernandez, S. and Garcia-Abril, A.D. (2016). *Quantitative Techniques in Participatory Forest Management*. London Crc Press.

Morzy, T., Valduriez, P. and Bellatreche, L. (2015). *New Trends in Databases and Information Systems*. Cham Springer International Publishing.

Movaheddin, A. (2021). Sustainable automated transportation systems directing towards smart cities: A feasibility study of droid delivery in Stockholm. [online] www.diva-portal.org. Available at: https://www.divaportal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2:1591183 [Accessed 30 Apr. 2022].

Nassaji, H. (2015). Qualitative and descriptive research: Data type versus data analysis. *Language Teaching Research*, 19(2), pp.129–132. doi:10.1177/1362168815572747.

Norris, J. (2021). *The Military History of the Bicycle: The Forgotten War Machine*. [online] *Google Books*. Pen and Sword Military. Available at: https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=KqMeEAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP 1&dq=In+ancient+times [Accessed 1 May 2022].

Novy, A. (2020). The Political Trilemma of Contemporary social-ecological Transformation – Lessons from Karl Polanyi's the Great Transformation. *Globalizations*, pp.1–22. doi:10.1080/14747731.2020.1850073.

OECD. (2020). Connecting Businesses and Consumers During COVID-19: Trade in Parcels. [online] Available at: https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/connecting-businesses-and-consumers-during-covid-19-trade-in-parcels-d18de131/#section-d1e785 [Accessed 4 Dec. 2021].

Ogbonna, O.P., Ogbonna, E.C. and Makinde, O.B. (2022). The Ecology of National Information Policy in Nigeria. *Journal of Business and Social Sciences*, [online] 2022(05), pp.1–12. Available at: http://eprints.intimal.edu.my/1602/ [Accessed 1 May 2022]. Okonji, E. (2019). '*Nigeria's N1tn Courier Industry Untapped'*. [online] THISDAYLIVE. Available at: https://www.thisdaylive.com/index.php/2019/02/14/nigerias-n1tn-courier-industryuntapped/ [Accessed 9 Apr. 2022].

Owuso, S.M. and Jaja, H. (2022). Effect of Technology on Supply Chain Performance of Courier Firms in Nigeria: Implication for Post Pandemic Era. *International Journal of Research in Education and Sustainable Development* /, [online] 2(3), pp.2782–7666. Available at: https://www.ijaar.org/articles/ijresd/v2n3/ijresd-v1n12-Dec21-p11230.pdf [Accessed 9 Apr. 2022].

Pangaribuan, I., Ali, M.H. and Mauluddin, S. (2020). Information System Services
Wenow Clean Franchise. *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*,
879, p.012053. doi:10.1088/1757-899x/879/1/012053.

Paul, E. (2020). Lagos Okada Ban: A Policy Expert Walks Us Through Some Burning Questions. [online] Techpoint Africa. Available at: https://techpoint.africa/2020/02/04/okada-ban-burning-questions/ [Accessed 27 Feb. 2022].

PWC (2019). Five Forces Transforming Transport & Logistics, Trend Book. [pdf] PwC. Available through: https://www.pwc.pl/pl/pdf/publikacje/2018/transport-logistics-trendbook-2019-en.pdf> [Accessed 11 May 2020].

Radhakrishnan, V. (2021). E-Commerce industry and its effect on the world today. *International Research Journal on Advanced Science Hub*, 3(2), pp.23–29. doi:10.47392/irjash.2021.026.

Rahi, S. (2017). Research Design and Methods: A Systematic Review of Research Paradigms, Sampling Issues and Instruments Development. *International Journal of Economics & Management Sciences*, 06(02), pp.1–5. doi:10.4172/2162-6359.1000403.

Reardon, T., Belton, B., Liverpool-Tasie, L.S.O., Lu, L., Nuthalapati, C.S.R., Tasie, O. and Zilberman, D. (2021). E-commerce's fast-tracking diffusion and adaptation in

developing countries. *Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy*. doi:10.1002/aepp.13160.

Roy, V. (2021). Contrasting supply chain traceability and supply chain visibility: are they interchangeable? *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, ahead-of-print(ahead-of-print). doi:10.1108/ijlm-05-2020-0214.

Schlegelmilch, B.B. (2022). Global Supply Chains. *Management for Professionals*, pp.225–252. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-90665-8_9.

Scott, J. and Wilkinson, R. (2020). Reglobalizing trade: Progressive Global Governance in an Age of Uncertainty. *Globalizations*, 18(1), pp.55–69. doi:10.1080/14747731.2020.1779965.

Shaughnessy, P.L. (2020). Chapter 2: Initiating and Administering Arbitration Remotely. In: M. Scherer, N. Bassiri and M.S. Abdel, eds., *International Arbitration and the COVID-19 Revolution*. Alphen Aan Den Rijn: Kluwer Law International, pp.27–48.

Silver, L., Stevens, R., Wrenn, B. and Loudon, D. (2013). *The Essentials of Marketing Research*. New York: Routledge.

Simon, H. A. (1976). Administrative Behavior. A Study of Decision-Making Processes in Administrative Organizations. New York: Free Press.

Somasundaram, R., Balasubramani, R. and Krishnamoorthy, M. (2013). *Customer Behaviour of Courier Service in Erode District*. [online] Available at: https://www.worldwidejournals.com/paripex/recent_issues_pdf/2013/January/custom er-behaviour-of-courier-service-in-erode-

district_January_2013_8169197584_5004001.pdf.

Statista (2019). Retail e-commerce sales worldwide from 2014 to 2023 (in billion U.S. dollars). [Industries > E-Commerce > B2C E-Commerce]. Statista. [online] Availabe through: https://www.statista.com/statistics/379046/worldwide-retail-e-commerce-sales/> [Assessed 10 March 2019] Stockemer, D. (2019). *Quantitative methods for the social sciences: a practical introduction with examples in SPSS and Stata.* Cham, Switzerland: Springer.

Sullivan, M. (2021). Technologies Driving Digital Transformation. *The Digital Transformation of Logistics*, pp.21–25. doi:10.1002/9781119646495.ch2.

Sullivan, M. and Kern, J. (2021). *Digitizing the Logistics Industry: Demystifying the Impacts of the Fourth Industrial Revolution*. Hoboken: Wiley-Ieee Press.

Tang, R.Q., Tan, Y.J., Tan, Z.X., Tan, Y.T., Almawad, G. and Alosaimi, A. (2022). A Study of Courier Service Quality and Customer Satisfaction. *International Journal of Applied Business and International Management (IJABIM)*, [online] 7(1), pp.137– 150. doi:10.32535/ijabim.v7i1.1446.

Taylor, R. (2022). The Greek Hoplite Phalanx: The Iconic Heavy Infantry of the Classical Greek World. *The Greek Hoplite Phalanx*, [online] pp.1–560. Available at: https://www.torrossa.com/it/resources/an/5084559 [Accessed 1 May 2022].

Thuy Tran, L.T. (2021). Managing the effectiveness of e-commerce platforms in a pandemic. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, [online] 58, p.102287. doi:10.1016/j.jretconser.2020.102287.

Tiamiyu, M.A. and Eigbe, O.E. (2018). Demand for courier services: determinants for customer organisations in a developing country. *International Journal of Services, Economics and Management*, 9(3/4), p.177. doi:10.1504/ijsem.2018.097791.

Toro, R., García-García, J. and Zaldívar-Basurto, F. (2020). Factorial Structure and Invariance Analysis of the BIS–BAS Scale, IPIP-R Version. *Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behavior Therapy*. doi:10.1007/s10942-020-00345-4.

Ukanwa, E. (2022). *Nigeria's Ease of Doing Business Reforms Offers Hope for Battered Economy*. [online] Vanguard News. Available at: https://www.vanguardngr.com/2022/04/nigerias-ease-of-doing-business-reformsoffers-hope-for-battered-economy/ [Accessed 19 May 2022].

UNCTAD (2020). COVID-19 and E-commerce: Impact on Businesses and Policy Responses. United Nations Conference on Trade and Development.

United States ITA (2021). *Nigeria - Logistics Sector*. [online] International Trade Administration | Trade.gov. Available at: https://www.trade.gov/country-commercialguides/nigeria-logistics-sector [Accessed 1 May 2022].

Unnikrishnan, A. and Figliozzi, M. (2020). A Study of the Impact of COVID-19 on Home Delivery Purchases and Expenditures. *Civil and Environmental Engineering Faculty Publications and Presentations*. [online] Available at: https://archives.pdx.edu/ds/psu/33410 [Accessed 9 Mar. 2021].

Urata, S. and Doan, H.T.T. (2022). Introduction and Overview. In: S. Urata and H.T.T. Doan, eds., *Globalisation and its Economic Consequences*. Oxon: Routledge, pp.1–25. doi:10.4324/9781003138501-1.

Vidya, C.T. and Prabheesh, K.P. (2020). Implications of COVID-19 Pandemic on the Global Trade Networks. *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade*, 56(10), pp.2408–2421. doi:10.1080/1540496x.2020.1785426.

Villa, R. and Monzón, A. (2021). Mobility Restrictions and E-Commerce: Holistic Balance in Madrid Centre during COVID-19 Lockdown. *Economies*, 9(2), p.57. doi:10.3390/economies9020057.

Volgger, M., Taplin, R. and Aebli, A. (2021). Recovery of Domestic Tourism During the Covid-19 Pandemic: An Experimental Comparison of Interventions. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*. doi:10.1016/j.jhtm.2021.07.015.

Wang, T., Leung, R., Woo, L. F., and Lee, A. (2021). 2021 Risk Radar: Transport and Logistics Sector. KPMG China's Transport and Logistics Practice.

Yueh, L. (2020). The China paradox: the endogenous relationship between law and economic growth. *Journal of Chinese Governance*, pp.1–26. doi:10.1080/23812346.2020.1785142.

Zenikov, D.A. (2021). Logistics of transport companies and supply chain management in international business. *essuir.sumdu.edu.ua*. [online] Available at: https://essuir.sumdu.edu.ua/handle/123456789/86555 [Accessed 1 May 2022].

Zhen, L., Wu, Y., Wang, S. and Yi, W. (2021). Crowdsourcing mode evaluation for parcel delivery service platforms. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 235, p.108067. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2021.108067.

Zou, P., Huo, D. and Li, M. (2020). The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on firms: a Survey in Guangdong Province, China. *Global Health Research and Policy*, 5(1). doi:10.1186/s41256-020-00166-z.

APPENDIX I

COURIER COMPANIES ONLINE RESEARCH QUESTIONNAIRE

INFORMATION FOR PARTICIPANTS

Dear Respondents,

My name is Oluwafisayowa, Omotoyosi Olujuyitan, a Master's student studying International Business at the National College of Ireland, Dublin, Ireland. This survey is about research called "PERSISTENT COVID-19: INVESTIGATING THE IMPACT ON COURIER COMPANIES IN NIGERIA." The questionnaire is divided into three pieces. Section A asks for demographics, while Sections B and C inquire about the challenges, opportunities, and impressions of COVID-19 predicated on your involvement in Nigeria from 2020 to 2021.

This questionnaire should take you about 10 minutes to complete. Your participation in this survey is important and completely voluntary. The information from this poll will be kept private and anonymous and used exclusively for academic purposes. Your completed surveys will be collected, reviewed, and kept securely.

Thank you for your input and answer.

INFORMED CONSENT

Do you agree to voluntarily fill out this questionnaire after reading the information above?

- () Yes (Please continue with the questionnaire)
- () No (Please do not continue with the questionnaire. Only those who have granted their permission may complete this questionnaire.)

SECTION A

Pick the one that most accurately reflects you.

1. How many employees are there in your company?

- 50 and below
- 51–100
- 101–300
- 301–500
- 501–1000
- 1001–4999
- 5000 and above

2. How has the outbreak affected your company's production and operations?

- The significant effect results in severe challenges in corporate operations and insolvency.
- Significant impact: activities are barely maintained
- Small effect, occasional operational issues, but overall stability
- There is no substantial influence.
- Positive influence, creating new prospects for growth

SECTION B

Please score the following assertions based on your experience with the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020-2022 and courier operations in Nigeria over the same period: Agree (A), Neutral (N), Disagree (D), Strongly Disagree (SA) (SD). Select the one that best expresses your viewpoint.

Chall	enges of COVID-19	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD
The ep	pidemic shook the supply					
system	n (lockdown, market closures,					
transp	ort)					
Becau	se of mobility constraints,					
COVI	D-19 hampered logistics.					
The g	overnment did not emphasise					
courie	ers and e-commerce.					
The e	pidemic increased the expense					
of run	ning a business.					
Increa	sed transportation and delivery					
expen	ses					

SECTION C: RESEARCH QUESTIONS

Please score the following assertions based on your experience with the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020-2022 and courier operations in Nigeria over the same period: Agree (A), Neutral (N), Disagree (D), Strongly Disagree (SA) (SD). Select the one that best expresses your viewpoint.

Perception towards COVID-19	SA	Α	Ν	D	SD
The COVID-19 epidemic era of 2020-2021					
was disastrous for Nigerian courier firms					
(Challenges were more opportunities)					
The COVID-19 epidemic era of 2020-2021					
was beneficial to Nigerian courier firms					
(Opportunities were more than challenges)					

APPENDIX II

COURIER e-CLIENTS ONLINE RESEARCH QUESTIONNAIRE

INFORMATION FOR PARTICIPANTS

Dear Respondents,

My name is Oluwafisayowa, Omotoyosi Olujuyitan, a Master's student studying International Business at the National College of Ireland, Dublin, Ireland. The study named "PERSISTENT COVID-19: INVESTIGATING THE IMPACT ON COURIER COMPANIES IN NIGERIA" is the subject of this survey. There are three sections to the questionnaire. Section A contains demographic questions, while Sections B and C ask about the obstacles, possibilities, and perceptions of COVID-19 based on your experience in Nigeria from 2020 to 2021.

It should take you around 5 minutes to complete this quiz. Your participation in this survey is crucial and entirely voluntary. The information from this poll will be kept private and anonymous and used exclusively for academic purposes. Your completed surveys will be collected, reviewed, and kept securely.

Thank you for your input and answer.

INFORMED CONSENT

Do you agree to voluntarily fill out this questionnaire after reading the information above?

- () Yes (Please continue with the questionnaire)
- () No (Please do not continue with the questionnaire. Only those who have granted their permission may complete this questionnaire.)

SECTION A

Pick the one that most accurately reflects you.

- 1. What type of courier customer are you?
 - e-shop
 - e-customer
- 2. In 2020-2021, how would you define your use of courier services?
 - No patronage
 - Weak patronage
 - Medium patronage
 - High patronage

SECTION B

Please assess the influence of COVID-19 on the following courier service quality criteria using the scale given, based on your experience with courier businesses in Nigeria before the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent experience after the pandemic began (period 2020-2021).

Impact of COVID-19	No	Weak	Medium	High
_	Impact	Impact	Impact	Impact
Reliability				
Delivery timeliness				
Order conformity and completeness				
The cargo was not damaged.				
Assurance				
Courier firm workers' politeness and				
culture				
Courier personnel' politeness and culture				
Contacting the courier business is simple.				
Responsiveness				
Simple communication with the courier				
company				
Communication with the courier provider				
is simple.				
Flexibility in selecting or changing the				
day and location of service				

SECTION C:

Please score the following claims based on your experience with the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020-2022 and courier services in Nigeria during the same period: Agree (A), Neutral (N), Disagree (D), Strongly Disagree (SA) (SD). Select the one that best expresses your viewpoint.

Perception towards COVID-19	SA	А	Ν	D	SD
The COVID-19 epidemic era of 2020-2021					
was disastrous for Nigerian courier firms					
(Challenges were more opportunities)					
The COVID-19 epidemic era of 2020-2021					
was beneficial to Nigerian courier firms					
(Opportunities were more than challenges)					